

THAI DERMATOLOGIST SURVEY OF SKIN AGING ASSESSMENT

BY

MISS PUNNAPATH BURANASIRIN

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE (DERMATOLOGY) CHULABHORN INTERNATIONAL COLLEGE OF MEDICINE THAMMASAT UNIVERSITY ACADEMIC YEAR 2016 COPYRIGHT OF THAMMASAT UNIVERSITY

THAI DERMATOLOGIST SURVEY OF SKIN AGING ASSESSMENT

BY

MISS PUNNAPATH BURANASIRIN

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE (DERMATOLOGY) CHULABHORN INTERNATIONAL COLLEGE OF MEDICINE THAMMASAT UNIVERSITY ACADEMIC YEAR 2016 COPYRIGHT OF THAMMASAT UNIVERSITY

THAMMASAT UNIVERSITY CHULABHORN INTERNATIONAL COLLEGE OF MEDICINE

THESIS

BY

MISS PUNNAPATH BURANASIRIN

ENTITLED

THAI DERMATOLOGIST SURVEY OF SKIN AGING ASSESSMENT

was approved as partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science (Dermatology)

on 16 May, 2017

Chairman

(Associate Professor Pichit Suvanprakorn, M.D., Ph.D.) Jitlada Meephansan

(Assistant Professor Jitlada Meephansan, M.D., Ph.D.)

Member and Co-advisor

Director, Graduate

Member and Advisor

(Assistant Professor Krit Pongpirul, M.D., M.P.H., Ph.D.)

(Professor Kesara Na-Bangchang, Ph.D.)

Dean

Studies

(Associate Professor/Kammal Kumar Pawa, M.D.)

Thesis Title	THAI DERMATOLOGIST SURVEY OF
	SKIN AGING ASSESSMENT
Author	Miss Punnapath Buranasirin
Degree	Master of Science
Major Field/Faculty/University	Dermatology
	Chulabhorn International College of Medicine
	Thammasat University
Thesis Advisor	Asst. Prof. Jitlada Meephansan, M.D., Ph.D.
Thesis Co-Advisor	Asst. Prof. Krit Pongpirul, M.D., M.P.H., Ph.D.
Academic Years	2016

ABSTRACT

Background: Clinical assessment of the skin is an important and practical way to evaluate skin aging. Although there are several skin aging assessment scales, no standard scale is widely used. Dermatologists may be the most appropriate persons to make decisions related to skin assessment, treatment, and prevention. However, their perceptions regarding the signs of skin aging are unexplored.

Objective: This study was aimed to develop a simplified global skin aging assessment score from dermatologists' perspective

Methods: An online questionnaire survey was conducted during 1 October to 31 December 2016 in the Thai Dermatologist Survey of Skin Aging Assessment.

Twenty-nine signs with published evidence on their relevancy to skin aging process were included in the questionnaire. Certified dermatologists and noncertified dermatologists were asked about their perceive knowledge of each dermatologist and their attitude about essential sign of skin aging, using the 5-point Likert scale. Descriptive statistics and exploratory factor analysis (EFA) were used for data analysis.

Results: Twenty-nine signs of skin aging were used to build a skin aging scale. Of 400 dermatologists, 213 responded (mean age 33.78 years; female 71.09%) responded to the survey (response rate 53.25%). Of 213 randomly selected dermatologists, 145 certified dermatologists responded to the survey (response rate

68.1%). Seventy-five percent of the respondents were female with the mean age of 35.2 years to the survey (mean age 35.20 years; female 75 %) responded to the survey (response rate 68.1%). They have practiced for 7.7 years on average.

Factor analysis revealed group of skin aging in 3-Factor. Factor 1 comprised of 8 items (e.g. deep wrinkle, superficial wrinkle, eye bag, lax appearance etc.). The lesion for provisional diagnosis was named "Atrophy". Six items (Freckle, lentigines, melasma, venous lake, etc) were considered discoloration (Factor 2). All malignant skin lesions were grouped in Factor 3.

Conclusion: This skin aging scale can be generated from studying multiple skin aging signs on facial skin and attitude knowledge of certified dermatologists by statistics. The GS^2A^2 score can be help dermatologist to evaluate skin aging, not only in clinical practice, but also in human research to compare treatment outcomes.

Keywords: Skin aging assessment, Develop score, Skin aging signs

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude specifically to my thesis advisor Asst. Prof. Dr. Jitlada Meephansan. I am greatly indebted to her for her expertise, valuable guidance and sincere encouragement. In addition, I would like to thank my co-advisor Asst. Prof. Dr. Krit Pongpirul for his precious support and constant endorsement throughout the course of this thesis. I can say that I have only achieved this far and was able to complete my thesis principally because of his help. I am also immensely grateful to Assoc. Prof. Dr. Pichit Suvanprakorn, for his advice in providing useful comment and inspiration in cosmetic dermatology field.

I would also like to take this opportunity to record my profound appreciation to all the faculty members of the department of Dermatology Chulabhorn International College of Medicine for their assistance. I must also thank my parents for their continuous patronage and genuine encouragement.

Finally, I wish to thank my friend, Krittika Tungseubkul. She has greatly inspired, assisted, and encouraged me throughout the entire journey until this thesis reaches the finish line.

Miss Punnapath Buranasirin

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT	(1)
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	(3)
	(-)
LIST OF TABLES	(10)
LIST OF FIGURES	(11)
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	(14)
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background and rationale	1
1.2 Research question	3
1.3 Specific objective	3
1.4 Hypothesis	4
1.5 Keywords	4
1.6 Operation definition	4
1.7 Ethical consideration	4
1.8 Limitation	5
1.9 Expected benefits and application	5
1.10 Obstacles and strategies to solve the problems	5
CHAPTER 2 REVIEW OF LITERATURE	7
2.1 Five multidimensional scale measurements	9
2.1.1 Skin Aging Score (SAS)	9
2.1.2 Score for Intrinsic and Extrinsic skin Ageing (SCIMEXA)	10

	(5)
2.1.3 Scale developed by Bazin et al.	11
2.1.4 Scale developed by Allerhand et al.	12
2.1.5 MERZ rating scale	12
2.2 COSMIN evaluation	13
CHAPTER 3 CHARACTERISTIC OF SKIN AGING	16
3.1 Mechanism of aging	16
3.1.1 Telomere shortening	16
3.1.2 Oxidative stress	17
3.1.3 Mitochondrial dysfunction	18
3.1.4 Genetic repair mechanism	18
3.1.5 Endocrine system dysfunction	18
3.2 The structural and physiological change in aged skin	19
CHAPTER 4 SKIN AGING MANIFESTATION	21
4.1 Skin aging signs and clinical description	21
4.1.1 Static wrinkle	21
4.1.1.1 Superficial wrinkle	21
4.1.1.2 Deep wrinkles	22
4.1.1.3 Criss-cross wrinkles	22
4.1.2 Sagging	22
4.1.2.1 Reduce fat tissue	22
4.1.2.2 Nasolabial fold	23
4.1.2.3 Eye bag	23
4.1.2.4 Folds drooping or ptosis of Eyelids	24
4.1.3 Decrease elasticity of skin	24
4.1.3.1 Yellowish discoloration	24
4.1.3.2 Tissue slackening or lax appearance	24
4.1.3.3 White linear area of scarring	25
4.1.3.4 Solar elastosis	25

4.1.4 Abnormality of skin pigmentation	25
4.1.4.1 Freckles	25
4.1.4.2 Lentigines	26
4.1.4.3 Solar lentigine	26
4.1.4.4 Melasma	27
4.1.4.5 Uneven pigment	27
4.1.4.6 Guttate hypomelanosis	28
4.1.4.7 Poikiloderma of Civatte	28
4.1.5 Vascular skin lesion	29
4.1.5.1 Venous lakes	29
4.1.5.2 Senile purpura	29
4.1.5.3 Telangiectases	30
4.1.6 Benign tumor, cyst and pseudocyst	31
4.1.6.1 Milia	31
4.1.6.2 Sebaceous hyperplasia	31
4.1.6.3 Senile comedones	32
4.1.6.4 Favre racouchot	32
4.1.7 Precancerous	33
4.1.7.1 Actinic keratosis	33
4.1.8 Malignancy	33
4.1.8.1 Squamous cell carcinoma	33
4.1.8.2 Basal cell carcinoma	33
4.1.8.3 Malignant melanoma	36
4.1.9 Others	37
4.1.9.1 Xerosis	37
4.1.9.2 Erosive pustular dermatosis	37
CHAPTER 5 KNOWLEDGE, ATTITDUE AND PRACTICES MODEL	40
5.1 Definition of KAP survey model	40
5.1.1 Knowledge	40
5.1.2 Attitude	40

5.1.3 Practice	40
CHAPTER 6 SKIN AGING IN THAILAND	42
CHAPTER 7 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	43
7.1 Study sample	43
7.1.1 Target population	43
7.1.2 Sample size	43
7.1.3 Inclusion criteria	43
7.1.4 Exclusion criteria	43
7.2 Instrument Development	44
7.2.1 Development of the questionnaire	44
7.2.1.1 Selected signs of skin aging	44
7.2.1.2 Questionnaires designs	46
7.3 Research design	47
7.3.1 Procedure	48
7.4 Data collection	49
7.5 Data analysis	49
7.5.1 Descriptive demographics	49
7.5.2 Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA)	49
CHAPTER 8 RESULTS	51
8.1 Demographic characteristics of respondent	51
8.2 Attitude of dermatologist for essential signs of skin aging	53
8.2.1 Baseline characteristics	53
8.2.2 Exploratory factor analysis (EFA)	55
8.3 Perceived knowledge about skin aging signs	60
8.3.1 Baseline characteristics	60

(7)

8.3.2 Association between perceive knowledge and attitude about	61
essential signs of skin aging	
8.3.3 Subgroup analysis	63
8.3.2.1 Comparison perceive knowledge about skin aging	63
signs between certified and non-certified dermatologist	
8.3.2.2 Comparison perceive knowledge between board	64
certified and non-board certified dermatologist	
8.4 Responder's practice	65
8.4.1 Baseline characteristics	65
8.4.2 Association between perceive knowledge and skin assessment	65
8.4.3 Association between mean attitude of essential signs and skin	67
assessment	
8.4.4 Association between GS^2A^2 and skin aging assessment	68
8.5 Perceive knowledge of skin aging scales	69
8.5.1 Baseline characteristics	69
8.6 Procedure	72
8.6.1 Baseline characteristics	72
8.6.2 Subgroup analysis	73
8.7 Context that influence skin aging assessment	75
CHAPTER 9 DISCUSSION	76
CHAPTER 10 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	80
10.1 Conclusions	80
10.2 Recommendations	80
10.2.1 Applying to the future	80
10.2.2 Validity and reliability test	81
REFERENCES	84
APPENDICES	96

APPENDIX A	GENERAL INFORMATION	97
APPENDIX B	PERCEIVED KNOWLEDGE FORM	98
APPENDIX C	CONTEXT THAT INFLUENCE SKIN AGING	101
	ASSESSMENT	
APPENDIX D	ATITIUDE FORM	102
APPENDIX E	PRACTICE FORM	105
APPENDIX F	COSMIN CHECKLIST EVALUATION	107

BIOGRAPHY

128



(9)

LIST OF TABLES

Tables		Page
1.1	Operation definition	4
1.2	Administration and time schedule	6
2.1	Aging signs of SAS	9
2.2	Aging signs of SCINEXA	10
2.3	Aging signs of Bazin et al.	11
2.4	Aging signs of Allehand et al.	12
2.5	Aging signs of MERZ rating scales	13
2.6	Validity and reliability of the scales and measurement by COSMIN	15
3.1	Structural change of skin aging	20
4.1	Skin aging signs and published evidence	38
5.1	KAP measurement	41
5.2	Advantage and disadvantage of KAP model	41
7.1	List of 29 Signs and Relevant Sources	45
7.2	Interview guide	46
7.3	Data analysis	50
8.1	Demographic data	52
8.2	Baseline characteristic attitude about essential signs of skin aging	53
8.3	EFA essential sign certified and non-certified dermatologist	57
8.4	EFA essential sign certified dermatologist	58
8.5	GS ² A ² Scale	59
8.6	Association between perceive knowledge of dermatologist and	62
	essential signs of skin aging	
8.7	Responder's practice	65
8.8	Association between perceive knowledge and practices of knowledge	66
	source for contextual dimension	
8.9	Comparison 4 skin aging scales	71
8.10	Surgery procedure and work experience	74
8.11	Comparison context that influence skin aging assessment between	75
	certified and non-certified dermatologist	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figures		Page
2.1	Flow Diagram of the search and selection process	8
2.2	Four-step procedure for completing the COSMIN checklist	14
3.1	Telomeres in loop configuration	17
3.2	Oxidative reaction of aging process	17
3.3	Mechanism of mitochondrial DNA mutation	18
3.4	Histologic change of skin aging by photo damage	20
4.1	Superficial wrinkle	21
4.2	Deep wrinkles	22
4.3	Criss-cross wrinkles	22
4.4	Reduce fat tissue	23
4.5	Nasolabial fold	23
4.6	Eye bag	23
4.7	Ptosis of eyelids	24
4.8	Yellowish discoloration	24
4.9	Lax appearance	24
4.10	White linear areas of scar	25
4.11	Solar elastosis	25
4.12	Freckles	26
4.13	Lentigines	26
4.14	Solar lentigine	27
4.15	Melasma	27
4.16	Uneven pigment	28
4.17	Guttate hypomelanosis	28
4.18	Poikiloderma of Civatte	29
4.19	Venous lake	29
4.20	Purpura	30
4.21	Telagiectases	30
4.22	Milia	31
4.23	Sebaceous hyperplasia	31

4.24	Senile comedone	32
4.25	Favre recouchot	32
4.26	Actinic keratosis	33
4.27	Squamous cell carcinoma	33
4.28	Nodular BCC	34
4.29	Ulcerating BCC	34
4.30	Sclerosing BCC	35
4.31	Superficial multicentric BCC	35
4.32	Pigmented BCC	35
4.33	Malignant melanoma	36
4.34	Xerosis	37
4.35	Erosive pustular dermatosis	37
7.1	Flow Diagram of skin aging signs selection process	44
7.2	Research design component	47
7.3	A link to survey (https://bit.ly/KAP-TDS)	48
8.1	Attitude about essential sign for assessment in each item	54
8.2	Scree plot of eigenvalues after exploratory factor analysis	56
8.3	Average percentage of perceive knowledge in each skin aging sign	60
8.4	Association between perceive knowledge and essential signs of skin	61
	aging	
8.5	Perceive knowledge between certified and non-certified dermatologist	63
8.6	Perceive knowledge between board certified and non-board certified	64
	dermatologist	
8.7	Association between perceive knowledge and skin assessment	67
8.8	Association between mean attitude of essential signs and skin	68
	assessment	
8.9	Association between GS^2A^2 and practices of knowledge source for	69
	contextual dimension	
8.10	Responses to the question "I am familiar with the following scale."	70
8.11	Comparison average of score for evaluation the familiarity and	70
	popularity of the currently-available, well-developed rating scales	
	among Thai dermatologists	

(12)

8.12Practice procedure that dermatologist done738.13Comparison between the practice procedure of certified and non-certified dermatologist748.14Context that influence skin aging assessment7510.1Before and after treatment by platelet-rich plasma protein (PRP)8210.2Before treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by GS^2A^2 8310.3After treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by GS^2A^2 83			
non-certified dermatologist758.14 Context that influence skin aging assessment7510.1 Before and after treatment by platelet-rich plasma protein (PRP)8210.2 Before treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by GS²A²8210.3 After treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by83	8.12	Practice procedure that dermatologist done	73
 8.14 Context that influence skin aging assessment 10.1 Before and after treatment by platelet-rich plasma protein (PRP) 10.2 Before treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by GS²A² 10.3 After treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by 	8.13	Comparison between the practice procedure of certified and	74
 10.1 Before and after treatment by platelet-rich plasma protein (PRP) 10.2 Before treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by GS²A² 10.3 After treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by 83 		non-certified dermatologist	
 10.2 Before treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by GS²A² 10.3 After treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by 83 	8.14	Context that influence skin aging assessment	75
GS ² A ² 10.3 After treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by 83	10.1	Before and after treatment by platelet-rich plasma protein (PRP)	82
10.3 After treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by83	10.2	Before treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by	82
		GS^2A^2	
GS^2A^2	10.3	After treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by	83
		GS^2A^2	



(13)

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Symbols/Abbreviations	Terms
BCC	Basal Cell Carcinoma
COSMIN	COnsensus-based Standards for the
	selection of health Measurement
	Instruments
EFA	Exploratory Factor Analysis
GS^2A^2	Global Subjective Skin Aging
	Assessment
КАР	Knowledge Attitude Practice
KAP-TDS	Knowledge, Attitude and Practice of
	Thai Dermatologist Skin Aging
	Assessment
MERZ	MERZ rating scale
MM	Malignant Melanoma
PRP	Platelet Rich Plasma protein
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
SAS	Skin Aging Score
SCC	Squamous Cell Carcinoma
SCINEXA	Score for Intrinsic and Extrinsic skin
	Ageing

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background and Rationale

Over recent decades, human desire for homogeneous skin color and texture, absence of wrinkles, and more youthful appearance has influenced increased use of cosmetic products. Proposed explanations for this trend include a desire to be competitive at the workplace, development of new cosmetic procedures, and growing availability of nonsurgical options (1, 2).

The primary target of the aging study is to increase the quality of elderly life and to prevent age-related diseases. Especially, aged skin is more interested due to the skin is the most noticeable sign of the aging mechanism and demonstrate the human health which seems to prognosticate the systemic illness and prognosis.

Chronologic age and solar damage are the most important intrinsic and extrinsic factors associated with skin aging. Skin aging characteristics varies ethnically among races. No one is spared from skin wrinkling, sunspots, uneven skin color, vascular abnormality, benign tumor and skin cancer yet these symptoms manifest differently according to the ethnic origin. Among the races, Caucasians manifest photo damaged signs earlier than other races due to their relatively less melanin contents (3). Furthermore, Caucasians manifest earlier onset of skin aging together with more obvious skin wrinkles and sagging signs than other races (4). In contrast, clinical manifestation of skin aging among Asians differs considerably compared to Caucasians. In Asia population, pigmentation changes are the most frequent and significant manifestation of skin aging (5). In spite of this fact, the mechanisms responsible for the deleterious effects and cutaneous alterations are distinct, and general skin signs are essential for clinical assessment of skin aging. An ideal skin aging assessment should be complete all signs of skin aging.

As features of skin aging depend on genetics, race, age, sex, and exposure to different external factors (6), developing a global skin aging assessment scale has been difficult. Most of skin aging scales were used for research studies (7). Nowadays there are more than one hundred assisting skin aging scales. These scales have been proposed and used not only in clinical practice, but also in research to compare treatment outcomes. Some assessment methods have used only select signs such as Glougau (8) and Fitzpatrick classification systems (9), focused on specific areas (e.g. face, neck (10), chest (11)) or specific ethnicity (12). Others have applied multidimensional assessment of multiple skin aging signs but the content and measurement properties are under standard (13).

Only 5 published multidimensional assessment scales were determined to have high methodological quality for all skin types pursuant to the COnsensusbased Standards for the selection of health Measurement Instruments (COSMIN)—a group that developed a critical appraisal tool (checklist) containing the standards for evaluating the methodological quality of studies investigating the properties of health measurement instruments (13). Of these, 5 scales are known as the MERZ Rating Scale (MERZ) (14), SCINEXA (15), Skin Aging Score (SAS) (16) and two unnamed scales (17, 18). By the way, there are some limitations, most scores focus on Caucasian and are not complete skin aging signs, not widely use and not clear in terminology. All of these scales developed by relation between skin aging signs and many factors involving aging. Dermatologists are the most important persons to diagnose any skin signs because of their expertise and experience. However, none of these scales were constructed to be assessed from dermatologists' perspective.

Today, there are many techniques and instruments to detect skin aging for research and treatment, including the 3-dimensional camera (19), dermoscope (20), physical sample analysis of color (21), and measurement of elasticity (22). However, these only include some of the signs of skin aging. Some cosmetic products can improve skin elasticity, but changes in other clinical symptoms may be unclear. In addition, pigmentation and malignancy may require a dermatologist to identify signs of aging.

This is the first study was aimed to develop a simple global skin aging assessment score based on the perceptions of dermatologist.

1.2 Research question

The multidimensional scales of skin aging is a scale that include many signs of skin aging such as wrinkle, dyspigmentation, benign tumor and vascular abnormalities. A complete clinical skin assessment is required to detect early skin aging problems and other skin diseases, including pre-malignant and malignant lesions, and to accurately quantify problems of skin aging. Although more than one hundred skin aging assessment scales have been introduced, only twenty scales are multidimensional and none has gained sufficient popularity to become widely used. Mostly scale developed by relation between skin aging and each factor. No scales of aging development by users' perspective. Because of some signs of aging are not easy to provisional diagnose or not essential for evaluation.

As practice experience can influence assessment, dermatologist are the specific person to evaluate skin and use skin aging scales. However, it cannot be concluded whether dermatologists' perspective will affect their perceived knowledge and clinical practice. As a result, this study intends to discover the attitude, knowledge, and clinical practice of Thai dermatologists in the area of clinical assessment of skin aging.

For the question of research is "How simple global score of skin aging should look like?" The study relies on the survey called KAP-TDS, which stands for Knowledge, Attitudes and Practice of Thai Dermatologist Skin Aging Assessments. The survey aims to identify the knowledge of dermatologists on skin aging signs, their attitude and the services they offer. The questionnaire will take into account individual knowledge update, work experience, working conditions, working hour and number of patients. The result of the survey should provide a clearer picture on the relation between the dermatologists' attitude and skin assessment, and help to develop and standardize scale to identify skin aging.

1.3 Specific objective

There are 2 main objectives under the current study: (1) To develop a simplified global skin aging assessment score from the perspective of dermatologists.

(2) To assess Thai dermatologists' perceive knowledge about skin aging signs, their attitude and service offer

1.4 Hypothesis

Base on perspective of dermatologists, we can develop a simple global skin aging assessment score.

1.5 Keywords

Skin aging assessment Develop score Skin aging signs

1.6 Operation definition

Table 1.1 Operation definition

Operation	Definition			
Certified dermatologists	Physician who graduate in dermatology			
	field including board certification,			
	Doctor of Philosophy in Dermatology,			
	Master of Science in Dermatology, and			
	Fellowship and Diploma in			
	Dermatology			
Non-certified dermatologists	All physician except certified			
	dermatologists who work in			
	dermatology field more than 2 years			

1.7 Ethical consideration

The objectives, methods and expected benefits of this study were explained to all respondents. Additionally, the possible adverse events and inconvenience during the study were clearly communicated to all respondents. All respondents were entitled to withdraw, at any time, from the study. Confidentiality of the respondent's data was a primary concern. The ethical committee of Human Research Ethics Committee of Thammasat University (No: 1 Faculty of Medicine) have also granted approval for this study.

1.8 Limitation

The limitations of this study include the following: 1) the data are from only Thai dermatologist; 2) the knowledge of skin aging by all dermatologists could have biased the data; and 3) there was a low response rate but adequate for exploratory factor analysis.

1.9 Expected benefits and application

At present, there are many assessment strategies available for skin aging. However, we are unable to find existing scale which is adequate or suitable for Thais. Dermatologists and physicians play a crucial role in making decisions of skin assessment and the implications for clinical practice, formal and continuing education and future research are widely discussed. We expect this research to be a baseline dermatological skin aging assessment and practice of dermatologists. In addition, the application of this study is to improve skin aging assessment and the performance of dermatologic procedures being performed by dermatologists. It is also included the understanding of the crucial barriers for skin aging assessment and identification of simple patterns of aging sign assessment and essential complex multivariate data. The other expectation of this research is to develop standard feasibility skin aging score that is suitable for dermatologists' use and achieve efficient process to enable the program to be improved more appropriately on skin aging to the community.

1.10 Obstacles and strategies to solve the problems

There are some limitations to this thesis. As quantitative research mainly depends on the researcher, it may be confined by my limited experience to use

exploratory factor analysis. However, I had conducted extensive studied and discussed with several experts to get the most information for my research.

Although the application of systematic review methodology has been implemented, it was not applied to its full potential. Because each study had a different scale development, it is difficult to compare or categorize. The problem was nonetheless solved by setting the criteria for choosing the manuscript that corresponds with this study interests.

Another major restriction for this review is my ability to understand only Thai and English language as some scales were not developed or translated into Thai and English.

	2016							2017								
	FEB	MAR	APR	MAY	NUL	JUL	AUG	SEP	0CT	NON	DEC	NVſ	FEB	MAR	APR	MAY
Literature review	8/	8	0													
Research Proposal			-							1		1				
Research Ethic	0		0													
Experiment										1						
Data Analysis										0	1					
Conclusion &Report										2						
Publication																

CHAPTER 2 REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Assessing age-related signs is the first step that dermatologists will perform on patients. The clinical assessment is not an invasive and long-lasting procedure. Scales are the tool that helps dermatologists to thoroughly assess skin aging.

Each person has different skin aging features, depending on genetics, race, age, gender and the exposure to different factors (15, 23, 24). Such differences make developing a complete skin aging scale difficult. However, screening scales are still beneficial to provisional diagnoses to cover every lesion.

Although, there are many techniques and instruments to detect skin aging for research and treatment, including the 3-dimensional camera (19, 25), dermoscope (20), physical sample analysis of color (21), and measurement of elasticity (22, 26, 27). The skin changes in other clinical symptoms such as pigmentation and malignancy may require to identify signs of aging.

A simple search of PubMed and Scopus databases for existing skin aging assessment scales, published from 1970 to 2016, identified 114 scales. The first standardized scale, however, was introduced in 1970 to assess the degree of crow's feet wrinkles (28). While some assessment methods have used only selected signs (e.g. wrinkles, dyspigmentation, sagging) and/or focused on specific areas (e.g. face, neck, chest) (7, 29). Others, only twenty scales, have applied multidimensional assessment of multiple skin signs in order to cover various phenomena include whole body wrinkle, sagging, skin dyspigmentation, vascular abnormality and tumor. Five published multidimensional measurements are evaluated as excellent and good validity quality for all skin types by COnsensus-based Standards for the selection of health Measurement Instruments (COSMIN) (14-18). COSMIN is a critical appraisal tool (a checklist) which comprises standards for assessing the methodological quality of studies on the properties of health evaluation and measurement instruments (13). One scale is used to measure intrinsic and extrinsic signs of aging of the entire body (15).

Five multidimensional measurements (Appendix F) compose of 3 scales are known as the MERZ Rating Scale (MERZ) (14), SCINEXA (15), and SAS (16).

The other 2 scales were developed by Bazin et al. (17) and Allehand et al.(18). These are developed in various ways as follows.



Figure 2.1 Flow Diagram of the search and selection process

2.1 Five multidimensional measurements

2.1.1 Skin Aging Score (SAS)

SAS was developed using analyses of factors from the relationship between skin aging signs and the chronological age (16). SAS is cohort study on visual and tactile evaluation of skin features for quantified skin aging signs. The total of 24 skin aging signs were obtained by factor analysis, which are split into 6 groups by presumed common etiology consisting of milia, comedone, wrinkle, inability to redness, pigment spot. The three level scales are used to rate most of the skin characteristics as absent, slight or very marked.

SAS
Guinot et al (16)
24 signs
White head on cheek
Black head on cheek
White head on forehead
Black head on forehead
Milia on cheek
Milia on forehead
Pigment spot on cheek
Pigment spot on forehead
Fine lines on cheek
Coarse wrinkle on cheek
Lines on lip
Wrinkle on upper lip
Nasolabial folds
Crow's feet
Wrinkle under eyes
Fine lines on forehead
Furrow between eye brow
Tissue slacking
Drooping Eyelids
Bags under eyes
Elasticity on cheek
Elasticity on forehead
Inability to redden cheek
Inability to redden forehead

Table 2.1 Aging signs of SAS

2.1.2 Score for Intrinsic and Extrinsic skin Ageing (SCINEXA)

SCINEXA was developed from intrinsic and extrinsic factors, which are different in clinical features of the skin (15). The scale measurement intrinsic and extrinsic skin aging in regular sunbed users vs. non-sunbed users. Correctly grouped 92% of volunteers on sunbed use based on scale scores. The score include 5 intrinsic and 18 extrinsic aging characteristics for a total maximum score of 54. Each parameter is scored ordinary scales 0 (none), 1 (mild), 2 (moderate), 3 (severe) by clinician or dermatologist which are training by owner of SCINEXA. Some item such as uneven pigmentation, cutis rhomboidalis nuchae, Favre racouchot, precancerous and cancer types a binary scale "Yes" (present = 3) or "NO" (absent = 0) was used. The maximum score is 69. (Max. 15 points for intrinsic ageing, 54 points for extrinsic aging)

12PU	SCINEXA Vienketten et el. (15)
	Vierkotter et al. (15) 23 signs
Unavan nigmant	25 Signs
Uneven pigment	
Fine wrinkle	
Lax appearance	
Reduce fat tissue	
Benign skin tumor	
Freckle	
Lentigine solarlis	
Pigment change	
Change of skin phototype	Carry construction of the
Yellowness	
Pseudoscar	
Coarse wrinkle	
Elastosis	
Cutis rhamboidalis nuchae	
Favre racouchot	
Dryness	
Comedone	
Telangiectasia	
Permanent erythema	
Actinic keratosis	
Basal cell carcinoma	
Squamous cell carcinoma	
Malignant melanoma	

Table 2.2 Aging signs of SCINEXA

2.1.3 Scale developed by Bazin et al.

Bazin and Flament developed a scale by applying the correlation with the real chronological age, the perceived appearance age and the photoaging status (17). Twenty eight facial signs can be grouped into four major clinical domains: wrinkles and skin texture, ptosis and sagging, pigmentation disorders, and other skin alterations such as cheek sebaceous pores and vascular disorders by three experts. All signs with different grades of scales were normalized to a 0–5 mark by pictures (absent to mark).

Table 2.3 Aging signs of Bazin et al	Table 2.	3 Aging	signs of	Bazin	et al.
--------------------------------------	----------	---------	----------	-------	--------

N/A Bazin et al. (17)
28 signs
Forehead wrinkles
Fine lines of the forehead
Glabella wrinkles
Interocular wrinkles
Crow's feet wrinkles
Underneath eye wrinkles
Preauricular wrinkles
Cheek folds
Nasolabial fold
Small folds on nasolabial zone
Upper lip wrinkles
Wrinkles of the corner of the lips
Chin withering
Density of pigmentary spots
Localized pigmentary spots of the cheek
Contrast of isolated pigmentary spot of the face
Size of an isolated spot
Drooping of upper outer eyelid
Eye bags
Ptosis of the lower part of the face
Cheek sebaceous pores
Importance of facial skin surface texture presenting alteration
Texture of the mount contour
Forehead pigmentation
Cheekbone pigmentation
Lateral facial pigmentation
Upper lip pigmentation
Vascular disorders

2.1.4 Scale developed by Allerhand et al.

Allehand et al developed a scale by modifying Skin Aging Score (SAS) in which 16 signs were selected based on the credibility of the assessor. Correlations with factors such as gender, age, social class, oxidative stress and BMI are then sought (18). Three independent raters have graded 15 facial skin aging signs from photographs on a narrow-age, community-resident cohort at age 83 years. Sum scores were between 14 and 42.

N/A Allehand et al. (18)
Allehand et al. (18)
16 signs
Milia (cheek)
Milia (forehead)
Pigmented spots (cheek)
Pigmented spots (forehead)
Fine lines (forehead)
Fine lines (cheek)
Lines on lips
Wrinkles (cheek)
Wrinkles (under eyes)
Wrinkles (upper lip)
Furrows between eyebrows
Nasolabial folds
Crow's feet
Facial tissue slackening
Bags under eyes
Drooping eyelids

Table 2.4	Aging	signs	of Allehand et al.
	•••	DISID	or r monune or an

2.1.5 MERZ Rating Scale (MERZ)

The development of MERZ derived from the evaluation of 50 subjects by 12 raters implementing 20 grading scales and global face assessment scales (14). The scale grades vary from 0 (no sign) to 4 (very intense or observable signs).

MERZ Brony et al. (14)					
Rzany et al. (14) 20 signs					
Forehead lines at rest	20 515115				
Forehead lines at dynamic					
Glabella lines at rest					
Glabella lines at dynamic					
Crow's feet at rest					
Crow's feet at dynamic					
Brow positioning					
Infraorbital hollow					
Nasolabial fold					
Upper cheek fullness	424456.				
Lower cheek fullness	10000				
Nasolabial folds					
Marionette lines					
Upper lip fullness					
Lower lip fullness					
Lip wrinkles at rest					
Lip wrinkles at dynamic					
Oral commissures					
Jawline					
Neck volume					

Table 2.5 Aging signs of MERZ rating scales

2.2 COSMIN evaluation

COSMIN stands for COnsensus-based Standards for the selection of health Measurement Instruments. The COSMIN checklist was developed as a tool to assess Health-Related Patient-Reported Outcomes (HP-PROs) and to evaluate in terms of study design and static analysis. 43 experts in the field of psychology, epidemiology, statistic and clinical medicine joined the panel to develop this checklist in 2006-2007. Each aspect was assessed by using COSMIN and 5 to 18 items were used as each quality criterion. There are four point scales, from "excellent", "good", "fair" and "poor" which lead to an overall methodological quality score for each aspect.

There are four-step procedures to complete the checklist (Figure 2.2). The first step explains general construction of the checklist. The next step is a procedure to be followed when using this checklist. Five multidimensional scales were done in step 1, 3 and 4 because no IRT methods used in these article.



Figure 2.2 Four-step procedure for completing the COSMIN checklist (30)

Although five multidimensional skin aging assessment scales have been introduced, none has gained sufficient popularity to become widely used. Many reasons for this finding are possible. First, the terminology might be unclear and the assessment results might be complicated, requiring competent assessors with special training. For example, the term "inability to redden" (14) pigment spot (15) benign tumor (15) could be interpreted in many different ways, making it unreliable. Second, some scales might be too comprehensive for real-life clinical practice. For instance, SCINEXA covers almost all signs of aging, and of the 13 studies utilizing this scale, only 2 completed the full assessment (31, 32). However, they are complicated and dependent on competent assessors with special training. Also, some scales require permission for their use. Some scale are not various skin aging signs in multidimensional. MERZ rating scales are no signs of pigment and benign tumor. This indicates that there is currently no principal feasibility of physical examinations of skin aging adequately considered in preparation of clinical treatment.

Scale name	Author	Name of measurement property that scale evaluated by COSMIN (7)	Paper use these scales
Skin Aging	Guinot et al,	Excellent Structural validity	(15, 16, 18,
Score (SAS)	2002 (16)	Excellent Criterion validity	33, 34)
SCINEXA	Vierkotter et al,	Good Hypothesis testing	(7, 15, 24,
	2009 (15)	Good Criterion validity	29, 32, 34-
			42)
N/A	Bazin and	Excellent Reliability	(17, 43, 44)
(\$	Flament, 2010 (17)	Excellent Structural validity	
N/A	Allerhand et al,	Excellent Reliability	(18, 45)
	2011 (18)	Excellent Structural validity	
MERZ Rating	Rzany et al,	Good Reliability	(14, 46)
Scales	2012 (14)	Good Hypothesis testing	
		Good Criterion validity	

Table 2.6 Validity and reliability of the scales and measurement by COSMIN

CHAPTER 3 CHARACTERISTIC OF SKIN AGING

Aging is a chronological process which displays progressive loss of physiological function in multiple organs (47). Skin is the largest organ of human body that can be impacted by psychological consequence of aging (6). Skin aging process comprises of physical changes, progressive impairment in the homeostatic, clinical manifestation ultimately increasing the susceptibility to environment. Although aging progresses differ among individual depend on genetics, race, age, sex, and exposure to different external factors, the deeper understanding of mechanism, structural and function change of skin aging are important.

3.1 Mechanism of aging

Aging can take place at cellular level and shows both a genetic program and cumulative progression of biologic events. The mechanism of aging process is complex. There are many theories try to describe aging. The biological processes that decline in aging are compose of

3.1.1 Telomere shortening

Telomere is a terminal portion of chromosomes (TTAGGG) (48). According to telomere hypothesis, in aging cause of decrease telomerase to maintain telomere replicate chromosomal ends resulting in progressive shortening with each round of cell (49). The telomere shortening leads to aggregation of oxidative stress that damage tissue, resulting in multiple signs of aging (50). Telomere maintenance can be affected by reactive oxygen species, ROS. First ROS leads to damage the formation of intramolecular G quadruplexes and decreases the affinity of telomeric DNA for telomerase (51). An indirect way in which ROS interacted with the catalytic subunit of telomerase can also result in a loss of telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) activity (50) Moreover, ROS can activated p53, an essential regulator of cell aging. The telomere shortening is the best biomarker for cellular aging (52).



Figure 3.1 Telomeres in loop configuration (47)

3.1.2 Oxidative stress

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are highly reactive molecules that comprise of multiple diverse chemical species such as superoxide anion, hydroxyl radical, and hydrogen peroxide (53). Generally, ROS can be generated during mitochondrial respiration and phagocytosis which will be transformed into hydroxyl group and hydrogen peroxide (54). The study shows that hydrogen peroxide can create an extremely reactive hydroxyl radical at a rapid rate which impairs DNA, proteins and lipids (55). Continuously exposure to oxidative stress from exogenous and endogenous aerobic metabolism can cause cell aging. It was concluded that one of the factors which can lead to skin aging is ROS (56).



Figure 3.2 Oxidative reaction of aging process (57)

3.1.3 Mitochondrial dysfunction

Function of mitochondria are both producer and target of oxidative stress, thus greatly contributes to aging (58). Moreover, mitochondrial DNA mutation does not contain repair mechanism leading to cell susceptibility to apoptosis. It is also found that the change in the mechanisms of apoptosis can be caused by genetically programmed features and oxidative stress (59).



Figure 3.3 Mechanism of mitochondrial DNA mutation (60)

3.1.4 Genetic repair mechanism

The chromosome instability, cell growth arrest and apoptosis that develop oxidative stress can impact DNA repair. DNA repair mechanisms in cells can get rid of damaged segments mainly through the process of DNA in G1 and G2 phase to protect cancerous transformation (61). In a UV-induce model, DNA repair capacity in primary dermal fibroblasts of older subjects reduces in function when compared to younger groups. Moreover, a decrease in S phase can lead to skin aging (62).

3.1.5 Endocrine system dysfunction

Global aging process can impact the entire endocrine system. Some internal mechanisms affect neuroendocrine system of skin. The most significant endocrine compound produced by skin is vitamin D_3 , which adjusts the biology of keratinocytes and melanocyte of the skin (63).

Growth hormone (GH) generated by liver are mainly exerted by insulin-like growth factor (IGF). GH-IGF system is a crucial influencer to the dermal and epidermal physiology. While growth hormone reduces aging, GH supplementation can cause changes in skin condition, a part of which may correspond to some corrective effects on aging skin (64).

Sex hormones affect skin in various ways. Progesterone has been reported to have some relations to skin atrophy, dryness and wrinkle, which concerns chronological aging or photoaging (65). Estrogen and progesterone play a role in homeostasis of epidermis. Lack of estrogen can cause tissue thickness and dryness of skin by reducing MMP activity in fibroblast, decrease hyaluronic acid in dermis (66).

3.2 The structural and physiological change in aged skin

Chronologic age and solar damage are the most important intrinsic and extrinsic factors associated with skin aging. Accordingly, the visible changes found in the aging skin appearance can be a result of two main processes. First, the intrinsic change or chronological aging skin is an evitable biological process leading to structural and functional transformation caused by passage of time. Second, extrinsic factor depends on individual environment exposure and individual genetic makeup (24). Structural and physiological changes of aging may manifest differently. Intrinsic modifications include changes to the skin, subcutaneous tissue, dermal appendages, musculature, as well as the skeleton (67, 68). The skin will experience dryness and look pale with fine wrinkles showing a certain degree of laxity and a variety of benign neoplasm (15, 67). In histological changes, a marked elasticity loss, atrophy of connective tissue, reduce of extracellular matrix components, pigment diminishes are present. On the other hand, extrinsic skin aging is presented by physiologic and morphologic changes. Visible manifestations such as coarse wrinkles, solar elastosis, pigment irregularities and vascular abnormality can be found in the extrinsic skin aging process (16, 24). Extrinsic changes can superimpose the intrinsic skin aging signs in chronically environmental exposed areas (69). The most common cause of extrinsic skin aging signs is UV radiation (70). Histology of extrinsic skin aging changes are acanthotic, dysceratotic with high proliferation index of keratinocytes, dysplasia of melanocyte and loss of Langerhans cell.
Table 3.1	Structural	change	of skin	aging

Feature	Intrinsic aging	Photoaging
Epidermis	Thin and viable	Acanthosis
Elastic tissue	Increase normal tissue	Mark increase, elastotic amorphous mass
Collagen	Thick, disoriented bundles	Marked decrease of bundles and fibers
Glycosaminoglycan	Slightly decreased	Markedly increased
Reticular dermis	Thin fibroblasts decreased, inactive mast cells decreased, no inflammation	
Papillary dermis	No solar elastosis	Solar elastosis
Microvasculature	Moderate loss	Great loss, abnormal and telangiectatic
Subcutaneous fat, muscle and bone	Reduced mass with age	Unaffect
Hair	Hypertrichosis, Gray hair	Discoloration



Figure 3.4 Histologic change of skin aging by photo damage (6)

CHAPTER 4 SKIN AGING MANIFESTATION

Different skin aging process leads to distinctive skin aging signs (6). Skin aging depend on genetics, race, age, sex, and exposure to different external factors. Cutaneous aging comprises two different situations (68). As previously mentioned, intrinsic changes include those to the skin, subcutaneous tissue, dermal appendages, musculature, as well as the skeleton (67, 68). Dry and pale skin with visible wrinkles can be found with a certain degree of laxity and a variety of benign neoplasm (15, 67). In contrast, extrinsic skin aging can be shown in various signs depending on individual environment exposure and individual genetic makeup (24). The examples of such signs are rough wrinkles, solar elastosis, pigment irregularities and vascular abnormality (16, 24). Extrinsic changes can superimpose the intrinsic skin aging signs in chronically environmental exposed areas (69). UV radiation can be traced back as a typical cause of extrinsic skin aging signs (70). Ethnic backgrounds are another important factor that differentiates clinical and functional manifestations in skin aging (3, 5, 36). This section is for review skin aging signs that in all ethnicities.

4.1 Skin aging signs (8, 20, 68, 71-73)

4.1.1 Static Wrinkle

4.1.1.1 Superficial wrinkles

Clinical description: Fold, ridge or crease in the skin. Fine wrinkles improved by stretching (68).



Figure 4.1 Superficial wrinkle (74)

4.1.1.2 Deep wrinkle

Clinical description: Wrinkles not improved by stretching (68).



Figure 4.2 Deep wrinkles (74)

4.1.1.3 Criss-cross wrinkles

Clinical description: Deep, crossing lines (8).



Figure 4.3 Criss-cross wrinkles (23)

4.1.2 Sagging

4.1.2.1 Reduce fat tissue

Clinical description: Decrease of subcutaneous fat from certain facial regions, such as the forehead, preorbital, buccal, temporal, and perioral regions, including the jowls, nasolabial folds, and lateral malar areas (68).



Figure 4.4 Reduce fat tissue (5)

4.1.2.2 Nasolabial fold

Clinical description: Fatty tissue was increased in nasolabial

area (71)



Figure 4.5 Nasolabial fold (75)

4.1.2.3 Eye bag

Clinical description: Mild swelling or puffiness under the eyes

(68).



Figure 4.6 Eye bag (76)

4.1.2.4 Folds drooping or ptosis of Eyelids

Clinical description: Drooping or falling of the upper eye lid





Figure 4.7 Ptosis of eyelids (77)

4.1.3 Decrease elasticity of skin

4.1.3.1 Yellowish discoloration

Clinical description: Abnormal, yellowish, nonfunctional elastotic material accumulation in the upper dermis (71).



Figure 4.8 Yellowish discoloration (68)

4.1.3.2 Tissue slackening or lax appearance

Clinical description: Skin that is no longer firm or tight (71).



Figure 4.9 Lax appearance (71)

4.1.3.3 White linear areas of scarring (pseudoscar)

Clinical description: Irregular healing of easily torn, fragile skin (71).



Figure 4.10 White linear areas of scarring (71)

4.1.3.4 Solar elastosis

Clinical description: Thickening as well as yellow discoloration of the skin in chronically sun-exposed areas, often in association with marked wrinkling and most commonly seen on the face (71).



Figure 4.11 Solar elastosis (71)

4.1.4 Abnormality of skin pigmentation

4.1.4.1 Freckles

Clinical description: A small patch of light brown color on the skin, often becoming more pronounced through exposure to the sun (68).



Figure 4.12 Freckles (71)

4.1.4.2 Lentigines

Clinical description: Lesions consist of hyperpigmented macules and may be isolated, agminated (focal cluster), or multiple and present on skin, nails, and mucous membrane (71).



Figure 4.13 Lentigines (71)

4.1.4.3 Solar lentigine

Clinical description: Circumscribed brown macule resulting from a localized proliferation of melanocytes due to acute or chronic exposure to sunlight (68).



Figure 4.14 Solar lentigine (68)

4.1.4.4 Melasma

Clinical description: Brownish macules with irregular borders and symmetric, photo distribution usually on the face, often coalescing in a reticular pattern (72).



```
Figure 4.15 Melasma (72)
```

4.1.4.5 Uneven pigment (Hypo-hyperpigmentation)

Clinical description: Diffuse irreversible hyper and hypopigmentation

in the form of mottled hypo-hyperpigmentation (68).



Figure 4.16 Uneven pigment (68)

4.1.4.6 Guttate hypomelanosis

Clinical description: Multiple, discrete round or oval, porcelain-white macules on sun-exposed areas (68, 71, 73)



Figure 4.17 Guttate hypomelanosis (78)

4.1.4.7 Poikiloderma of Civatte

Clinical description: Reticulated red to red–brown patches with telangiectasias that spare perifollicular skin. It is typically found on the lateral aspects of the neck in fair-skinned individuals with significant cumulative sun exposure (71).



Figure 4.18 Poikiloderma of Civatte (71)

4.1.5 Vascular skin lesion

4.1.5.1 Venous lakes

Clinical description: A dark blue to violaceous asymptomatic,

soft papule resulting from a dilated venule (72).



Figure 4.19 Venous lake (72)

4.1.5.2 Senile purpura

Clinical description: A rash of purple spots on the skin caused by internal bleeding from small blood vessels (71).



Figure 4.20 Senile purpura (71)

4.1.5.3 Telangiectases

Clinical description: Small dilated blood vessels near the surface of the skin or mucous membranes, measuring between 0.5 and 1 millimeter in diameter (68).



Figure 4.21 Telagiectases (72)

4.1.6 Benign tumor, cyst and pseudocyst 4.1.6.1 Milia

Clinical description: Translucent yellow papules that measure 1–3 mm in diameter. There are usually numerous, closely spaced lesions in chronically sun-exposed sites, especially the neck, face and dorsal hands (72).



Figure 4.22 Milia (72)

4.1.6.2 Sebaceous hyperplasia

Clinical description: 1 to 3 mm in diameter soft to palpation,

not firm in nodular, possible to elicit a very small globule of sebum and have both telangiectasia and central umilication (72).



Figure 4.23 Sebaceous hyperplasia (72)

4.1.6.3 Senile comedones

Clinical description: Periorbital, localized, non-inflamed, open and closed comedones. The eruption is usually bilaterally symmetrical but can be more visible on one side which is more exposed to thesun. No inflammation is present, unlike the comedones seen in acne vulgaris (73).



Figure 4.24 Senile comedone (71)

4.1.6.4 Favre racouchot

Clinical description: Multiple open comedones that are widened openings for hair follicles and sebaceous glands filled with material (68).



Figure 4.25 Favre recouchot (79)

4.1.7 Precancerous

4.1.7.1 Actinic keratosis

Clinical description: A single or multiple, discrete, dry, rough, adherent scaly lesions occur on the habitually sun exposed skin of adults, usually on a background of dermatoheliosis (72).



Figure 4.26 Actinic keratosis (72)

4.1.8 Malignancy

4.1.8.1 Squamous cell carcinoma

Clinical description: Solitary or discrete multiple macules, papules, or plaques, slowly enlarging, pink to erythematous thin plaque with welldemarcated, irregular borders and overlying scale or crust which may be hyperkeratotic or scaling (72).



Figure 4.27 Squamous cell carcinoma (72)

4.1.8.2 Basal cell carcinoma (72)

Clinical description: There are five clinical types: nodular, ulcerating, sclerosing (cicatricial), superficial, and pigmented.

- Nodular BCC: Papule or nodule, translucent or "pearly." Skin-colored or reddish, smooth surface with telangiectasia, well defined, firm.



Figure 4.28 Nodular BCC (72)

- Ulcerating BCC: Ulcer (often covered with a crust) with a rolled border (rodent ulcer), which is translucent, pearly, smooth with telangiectasia, and firm.



Figure 4.29 Ulcerating BCC (72)

- Sclerosing BCC: A small patch of morphea or a superficial scar, often ill defined, skin-colored and whitish but also with peppery pigmentation.



Figure 4.30 Sclerosing BCC (72)

- Superficial multicentric BCCs: Appear as thin plaques. Pink or red; characteristic fine threadlike border and telangiectasia can be seen with the aid of a hand lens. No other form of BCC can present a considerable amount of scaling. This can also give rise to nodular and ulcerating BCC.



Figure 4.31 Superficial multicentric BCC (72)

- Pigmented BCC: May be brown to blue or black. Smooth, glistening surface; hard, firm; may be indistinguishable from superficial spreading or nodular melanoma but is usually harder.



Figure 4.32 Pigmented BCC (72)

4.1.8.3 Malignant melanoma

Clinical description: Six Signs of Malignant Melanoma (ABCDE Rule) **A** *Asymmetry* in shape—one-half unlike the other half, **B** *Border* is irregular, **C** *Color* is not uniform; mottled haphazard display of colors; all shades of brown, black, gray, red, and white, **D** *Diameter* is greater than 6.0 mm; others use **D** for "ugly duckling" sign: lesion is different with respect to change in size, shape, color, **E** *Elevation* is almost always present and is irregular surface distortion assessed by side-lighting. Melanoma in situ and acral lentiginous lesions initially macular. Others use **E** for *Enlargement* which refers to a history of a size enlargement of lesion is one of the most important signs of malignant melanoma (72).



Figure 4.33 Malignant melanoma (72)

4.1.9 Others

4.1.9.1 Xerosis (dry skin)

Clinical description: Dull color (usually gray white), rough texture, and an elevated number of ridges of skin (71).



Figure 4.34 Xerosis (72)

4.1.9.2 Erosive pustular dermatosis

Clinical description: sterile pustules, crusts, erosions and mild inflammation arising within the photodamaged skin of a bald scalp (71).



Figure 4.35 Erosive pustular dermatosis (71)

Skin aging signs	Paper assess these signs
Static Wrinkle	(14-18, 24, 28, 35, 43, 80-98)
- Superficial wrinkles	
- Deep wrinkles	
- Criss-cross wrinkles	
Sagging	(14-16, 18, 43, 80, 84, 90, 92, 99,
- Reduce fat tissue	100)
- Nasolabial fold	
- Eye bag	
- Folds drooping or ptosis of Eyelids	
Decrease elasticity of skin	(15-17)
- Yellowish discoloration	
- Tissue slackening or lax appearance	
- White linear areas of scarring & seudoscar'	
- Solar elastosis	
Abnormal skin pigmentation	(14-18, 43, 84, 91, 94)
- Freckles	167.A.//
- Lentigines	
- Solar lentigine	
- Melasma	
- Uneven pigment (Hypo-	
hyperpigmentation)	
- Guttate hypomelanosis	
- Poikiloderma of Civatte	
Abnormality of vascular	(15, 16)
- Venous lakes	
- Purpura	
- Telangiectases	
Benign tumor, cyst, pseudocyst	(14-18, 84-86)
- Milia	

Table 4.1 Skin aging signs and published evidence

Skin aging signs	Paper assess these signs
- Sebaceous hyperplasia	
- Senile comedones	
- Favre racouchot	
Precancerous	(15)
- Actinic keratosis	
Malignancy	(15)
- Squamous cell carcinoma	
- Basal cell carcinoma	
- Malignant melanoma	
Other	
- Xerosis & ry skin'	(15)
- Erosive pustular dermatosis	

CHAPTER 5 KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDE AND PRACTICES MODEL

5.1 Definition of KAP survey model

A Knowledge, Attitude and Practices (KAP) survey is a quantitative method (predefined questions formatted in standardized questionnaires) that provides access to quantitative and qualitative information (101). Originally, the KAP survey was implemented for family planning and population studies in the 1950s (102). It is recommended, for best results, to use this method of survey in early phases of the project and again after the intervention is completed (103).

5.1.1 Knowledge

The term knowledge refers to the capacity to gather, retain and use information; a mixture of comprehension, experience, discernment and skill (104)

5.1.2 Attitude

Attitude means feelings towards a subject, as well as any preconceived ideas that towards it. Attitude has been defined as a relatively enduring organization of beliefs around an object, subject, or concept which predisposes one to respond in some preferential manner. Attitude includes three components (83):

5.1.2.1 A cognitive or knowledge element5.1.2.2 An affective or feeling element5.1.2.3 A tendency to action

5.1.3 Practice

Practice is the method of knowledge and attitude demonstration through actions (85).

Appropriate programs for the community can be efficiently created if the levels of Knowledge, Attitude and Practice can be comprehended.

 Table 5.1 KAP measurement

	Measurement
Knowledge	Perceived knowledge: "feeling of knowing" of an elusive item in
	memory, the more time one will spend searching for that item before
	giving up (71,72)
	Actual knowledge: Determining whether a person recognizes that
	he/she knows or does not know something have not been incorporated
	into the concept of knowledge measurement and assessment of people's
	knowledge (73)
Attitude	Direct Measurement : People are critical to accept conclusions that are
	consistent with their attitudes (74)
	Indirect Measurement: People are less critical to accept conclusions
1/5	that are consistent with their attitudes (75)
Practice	Learning and change in practice, Personal practice

Table 5.2 Advantage and disadvantage of KAP model

	Advantage		Disadvantage
1.	Useful when conducted in the early	1.	Lack of standardized approach to
	phases of the project (101)		validate findings (101).
2.	Findings of an initial, qualitative	2.	Data can be hard to interpret
	investigation (e.g. observation and		accurately: The reliability of the data
	focus group discussions) to explore		can be easily influenced by
	several potential impacts on		underlying contextual and cultural
	behavior (104)		factors (110)
3.	The relation of social, cultural and	3.	Analyst Biases in KAP Surveys :
	economic factors that may affect		Cultures and languages different has
	health and the application of public		been as a potential methodological
	health initiatives (110)		problem (111).

CHAPTER 6 SKIN AGING IN THAILAND

Thailand is located in the tropical zone at 115° 00' North latitude and 100° 00' East longitude (112). UV index exposure category is very high (10-13) (113). Most of the Thais have Fitzpatrick skin type IV (114). The low latitude and the high temperatures in Bangkok results in high levels of UV exposure (115). There are very few reports on skin aging signs from Thailand. A study shows that women in Bangkok have the most severe level of wrinkles compared to those in Shanghai and Tokyo (95). The instruments for assessment of skin aging sign varies such as physical exam, 3D cameras, skin color measurement and others (116, 117). The scaling is a visual scoring method which relies on the visual impression of a specialist and thus is highly subjective. Although there are many scales for evaluating skin aging signs, the majority of the scales were unknown. Most of skin aging scales are used to evaluate only partial items and specific areas, although the factual signs of skin aging are greater, as shown in comedone, premalignancy and malignancy lesions, and vascular malformation. The benefit of covering every sign of skin aging scales might be more appropriate to quantify skin aging because they can cover a variety of problems (118). The coverage includes the assessment of all lesions, awareness of premalignancy and malignancy lesions, approximate factors of skin aging sign and baseline skin aging among the Thais in the future.

There is currently no evident standard score to evaluate skin aging signs in Thailand. References to complete clinical scale can be used for precise quantification of the aging degrees. This method will lead to prompt and accurate diagnosis and determination of specific preventive or corrective treatments. However, the interpretation of constructs and scale description might be subjective. Hence, precise definitions of applied concepts and sign descriptions are vital.

CHAPTER 7 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

7.1 Study sample

7.1.1 Target population

All certified and noncertified dermatologists are recruited at dermatological society of Thailand for this study. Respondent were identified as dermatologist by screener question at the start survey.

7.1.2 Sample size

A total of 233 are recruited for this study. The sample size is calculated using the following formula (84).

$$n = \frac{[Z_a^2 NP(1 - P)]^2}{Z_a^2 P(1 - P) + Ne^2}$$

n = Sample size

N = Population size = 585

P = Response distribution = 0.50 (Conservative approach)

Type I error = 1.965

7.1.3 Inclusion criteria

- Certified dermatologists, physicians who graduated in dermatology field including board certification, Doctor of Philosophy in Dermatology, Master of Science in Dermatology, and Fellowship and Diploma in Dermatology

- Non certificate dermatologists who work in dermatology field

7.1.4 Exclusion criteria

- Thai Dermatologists who refuse to participate
- Dermatologists who cannot be contact
- Thai Dermatologists who work in other fields

7.2 Instrument Development

The name of the instrument is Knowledge, Attitudes and Practice of Thai Dermatologist Skin Aging Assessments (KAP-TDS). The KAP-TDS measures the perceived knowledge, attitudes, practice, education, and confidence as well as the role of dermatologists regarding skin aging assessments.

7.2.1 Development of the questionnaire 7.2.1.1 Selected signs of skin aging

Items will be developed based on a review of the literature and standard textbook of dermatology. A simple search of PubMed and Scopus databases for existing skin aging assessment scales published from 1970 to 2016 identified 114 scales Only 5 are highly methodology qualification. All skin signs of the 5 COSMINqualified scales were reviewed, along with major textbooks (68, 71) used in dermatology training in Thailand. The redundant and nonspecific signs were excluded. To ensure scale simplicity, skin signs that required facial expression or were localized to specific facial areas were excluded (Figure 7.1). Therefore, 29 signs with published evidence of their relevancy to skin aging were included.



Figure 7.1 Flow Diagram of skin aging signs selection process

NAME OF SKIN AGING SCALES	SAS	SCINEXA	MERZ	N/A	N/A	Text book
AUTHORS SKIN AGING SIGNS	Guinot et al (16)	Vierkotter et al.(15)	Rzany et al. (16)	Bazin et al.(17)	Allehand et al.(18)	Yaar et al. (68) Lim et al(68, 71)(71)
Wrinkle - Superficial	0	0	0	0	0	0
Wrinkle - Deep	0	0	0	0	0	0
Wrinkle - Criscross						0
Reduce fat tissue		0				0
Nasolabial folds	0	0	0	0	0	0
Eye bag	0			0	0	0
Ptosis of eyelids	0				0	0
Yellowish discoloration		0				0
Lax appearance/Tissue slacking	0	0	8		0	0
Solar elastosis		0		-//2		0
Pseudoscar	-77~	0				0
Cutis Rhomboidalis Nuchae	PC (0	//			0
Freckles	A	0				0
Solar lentigines		0				0
Melasma		0				0
Uneven Pigment/Pigment spot	332	0		0	0	0
Guttate hypomelanosis	<	100	1.			0
Venous lakes						0
Senile Purpura	_			_		0
Telangiectasias		0				0
Milia	0	0			0	0
Sebaceous hyperplasia						0
Senile comedone	0					0
Favre-Racouchot syndrome		0				0
Actinic keratosis		0				0
Xerosis		0				0
Squamous cell carcinoma		0				0
Basal cell carcinoma		0				0
Malignant melanoma		0				0

 Table 7.1 List of 29 Signs and Relevant Sources

7.2.1.2 Questionnaires designs

Based on the findings of the study, a questionnaire was developed to comprise five sections. The questionnaire design was assessed by five expert dermatologists. The assessment scale will limit the results to each individual, without allowing them to communicate with each other. Five sections (Table7.2) are covered dermatologist knowledge, their perspective and their practice in skin aging signs. Section 1, Dermatologists were asked about the general demographics of the respondents. Section 2 were explored the perceived knowledge of the respondent. Section 3 asked about a context that influence skin aging assessment. Section 4 asked responders' opinion about essential sign for assessment in each items. Section 5 related to the responders' practice.

Section 2,3,4 each subscale is measured with typical five-level Likert items in the questionnaire, consisting of Strongly disagree, Disagree, Neither agree nor disagree, Agree, or Strongly agree (119).

Section 5 Part Skin assessment using answer with Yes or No.

Section 1	Demographic Data Form	 The respondents will be given demographic 7 questions before the interview (Appendix A). Data collection includes: gender, age, work setting, work experience, and current knowledge update.
Section 2	Knowledge Form	 32 items assess the perceived knowledge of respondents (Appendix B). 29 items assess their knowledge about skin aging signs. 3 items assess a partial score for evaluation of skin aging.
Section 3	Context Form	- 4 items to assess in different contexts skin aging assessment; time, number of patient per day, individual factors (Appendix C).

Table 7.2 Interview guide

Section 4	Attitude Form	 - 29 items to assess the attitude of respondents about the essential signs of skin aging (Appendix D).
Section 5	Practice Form	 25 items to assess their practice regarding skin aging. 9 items about their practice assessment (Appendix E). 16 items about practice procedures (Appendix F).

7.3 Research design

This is descriptive research, cross sectional survey. This survey was carried out over about 3 months from October to December 2016 at Thammasat University Hospital, Thailand Tobacco Monopoly Hospital. This study was in approval process by the ethical committee of Human Research Ethics Committee of Thammasat University (No: 1 Faculty of Medicine) and informed consent will be taken from all the participants. Confidence and privacy of participants will be ensured by excluding identification details form the study instrument.



Figure 7.2 Research design component

7.3.1 Procedure

Issuing an official introduction letter, summary of the study proposal and a statement of proposal from the CICM, and sending these to the Dermatology Society of Thailand. Attaining the name, contact address, phone number and/or e-mail address of all dermatologists in Thailand from the Dermatology Society of Thailand. Participants were further selected according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Developing a comprehensive questionnaire regarding the demographic data, perceived knowledge about skin aging signs, their attitude and services offered. A link to the survey (https://bit.ly/KAP-TDS) was distributed to 30 dermatologists by e-mail and a mailed letter (with prepaid return envelope) as a pilot cohort for the assessment of the questionnaire reliability. A link to the survey (https://bit.ly/KAP-TDS) was distributed to all dermatologists by e-mail and a mailed letter (with prepaid return envelope). All responses will be summarized and analyzed Intervention and follow up



Figure 7.3 A link to the survey (https://bit.ly/KAP-TDS)

7.4 Data collection

The questionnaire was mailed to the target dermatologists by e-mail or a mailed letter (with prepaid return envelope) with a link to a Google form (https://bit.ly/KAP-TDS). Dermatologists were requested to return the questionnaire within two weeks. Those who did not do so are defined as non-respondents. After 2 weeks, the questionnaire was resent along with a cover letter and prepaid return envelope or e-mailed to non-respondents. After 4 weeks, follow-up phone calls will be made to ask for a phone interview.

7.5 Data analysis

7.5.1 Descriptive demographics

Appropriate statistical tests, the Pearson chi-square and Student's ttest, will be used to analyze categorical and continuous variables, respectively.

7.5.2 Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA)

Together with their knowledge and experience, Thai dermatologists use Exploratory factor analysis (EFA) to analyze and explore the essential signs of skin aging. EFA was chosen because the aim of this process is to identify linear group combinations of items that identify the optimal number of factors. The Kaiser-Guttman criterion(120) and scree test (121) were used to explore the optimal number of factors, which were used as an input for repeated EFA. Then, the factors were rotated to evenly spread the variability, so that all solutions were relatively the same. Items with high uniqueness were removed, whereas the remaining items had high factor loading, which should be at least 0.70, as this corresponds to approximately half of the variance of the variable being explained by the factor of interest. The retained items were grouped into factors, each of which was named based on the member items. Orthogonal (varimax) and oblique (promax) rotation provided similar outcomes. However, we chose to go with the latter due to the possible non-independent nature of the factors. An initial reliability test and item-based statistical analysis also were performed together with EFA.(122) Stata/SE version 13 (StataCorp) was used for all statistical calculations. P-values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Table	7.3	Data	anal	ysis
-------	-----	------	------	------

	Multivariate data	Quantitative data
Data summarization	EFA	Mean
		Standard deviation
		Median
		Interquartile
Test of difference	Kaiser-Guttman	Person chi-square
	Scree test	Student's t-test
1.87	Parallel test	



CHAPTER 8 RESULTS

8.1 Demographic characteristics of respondent

According to the demographic data of all dermatologists showing in the table 8.1, 213 respondents were female (70.4%). The mean \pm SD age was 33.78 \pm 7.47 years and the median age of these respondents was 33.78 years. They work at medical service centers as follows: private clinics (54.5%), medical schools (27.7%), private hospitals (22.1%), and public hospitals (17.37%). The mean \pm SD work experience was 6.74 \pm 6.74 years. The result of this study also reveals the mean \pm SD of the participation in international conference, that the respondents attend each year, 2.66 \pm 2.36 times.

Of 213 randomly selected dermatologists, 145 responded to the survey (response rate, 68.1%) were certified dermatologist. 75% of respondents were female, and mean age was 35.2 years. Ages of non-certified and certified dermatologist were significantly differed (0.0002).

Most of the respondents worked at private clinics (54.5%), compared with 27.7% who work at medical schools, 17.37% at public hospitals, and 22.1% at private hospitals. The median work experience was 6.74 years, and they attended approximately 3 international conferences annually on average.

The Demographic data showed that other 68 respondents (31.9%), who were included in this study, had been classified as non-certified dermatologists and 43 of them were female (63.24%). The mean \pm SD age of these non-certified dermatologists was 30.45 \pm 6.10 years. Workplaces of this group of the respondents were private clinics (72.06%), medical schools (19.12%), private hospitals (5.88%), and public hospitals (5.88%) respectively. The mean \pm SD work experience was 4.67 \pm 5.94 and was expected to annually attend international conference 2.18 \pm 2.23 times. Work settings of non-certified and certified dermatologist were significantly differed (0.002).

 Table 8.1 Demographic Data

Variables	Statistics data	Certified	Non Certified	P-value
		(145)	(68)	
	(213)			
Age				
Mean \pm SD.	33.78 ± 7.47	35.20 ± 7.5	30.45 ± 6.10	< 0.001
[Min, Max]	[25, 62]			
Sex				
Female	150 (70.4%)	107 (74.83%)	43 (63.24%)	0.116
Working experience				
Mean ± SD.	6.74 ± 6.74	7.7 ± 6.89	4.67 ± 5.94	0.002
Min, Max	[0, 42]	111/25		
Workplace setting	5			0.002
Medical School	27.7%	31.72%	19.12%	0.055
Public Hospital	17.37%	22.76%	5.88%	0.002
Private Hospital	22.1%	29.66%	5.88%	0.001
Private Clinic	54.5%	46.21%	72.06%	< 0.001
International conference per year	2.66 ± 2.36	2.90 ± 2.39	2.18 ± 2.23	0.038
P-value correspond	s to Independent	t-test.		

8.2 Attitude of dermatologist for essential signs of skin aging

8.2.1 Baseline characteristics

More than half of certified and noncertified dermatologist thought all signs of skin aging were essential by selected strongly agree and agree The answer of respondents who selected strongly agree of malignant lesion are more than 70 percent (Table 8.2). The average percentage Likert's scales of each signs were between 67.74 and 86.51 (Figure 8.1). Deep wrinkle was the highest score, 4.33. Milia was the lowest score, 3.39.

Skin aging signs	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree Nor disagree	Agree	strongly agree
Wrinkle - Superficial	2.4%	1.9%	6.2%	49.3%	40.3%
Wrinkle - Deep	2.4%	1.4%	3.3%	47.2%	45.8%
Wrinkle - Criscross	2.4%	4.3%	17.1%	42.7%	33.6%
Reduce fat tissue	2.4%	1.4%	7.5%	44.8%	43.9%
Nasolabial folds	2.4%	2.4%	8.5%	41%	45.8%
Eye bag	2.4%	1.4%	9.9%	43.4%	42.9%
Ptosis of eyelids	3.3%	3.3%	7.6%	45%)	40.8%
Yellowish discoloration	3.3%	4.7%	16.6%	44.5%	30.8%
Lax appearance	2.8%	0.9%	10.4%	44.3%	41.5%
Solar elastosis	3.3%	0.9%	13.2%	42.5%	40.1%
Pseudoscar	2.8%	4.7%	22.3%	40.3%	29.9%
Cutis Rhomboidalis Nuchae	3.8%	5.7%	15.6%	46.4%	28.4%
Freckles	6.1%	11.8%	17.5%	39.6%	25%
Solar lentigines	3.8%	8%	15.6%	41%	31.6%
Melasma	2.4%	8.5%	14.2%	44.3%	30.7%
Uneven Pigment	2.8%	6.6%	18.9%	42.5%	29.2%
Guttate hypomelanosis	3.8%	4.3%	11.4%	42.7%	37.9%
Venous lakes	3.8%	14.2%	25.9%	37.7%	18.4%
Senile Purpura	3.8%	10.0%	20.0%	40.0%	26.2%
Telangiectasias	3.3%	13.2%	17.9%	40.6%	25%
Milia	4.7%	22.2%	22.2%	31.6%	19.3%

Table 8.2 Baseline characteristic attitude about essential signs of skin aging

Skin aging signs	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree Nor disagree	Agree	strongly agree
Sebaceous hyperplasia	3.8%	12.3%	16.5%	43.9%	23.6%
Senile comedone	3.8%	3.3%	10.4%	46.7%	35.8%
Favre-Racouchot syndrome	5.2%	7.1%	17.0%	40.6%	30.2%
Actinic keratosis	2.8%	5.2%	11.8%	47.4%	32.7%)
Xerosis	4.7%	10.4%	14.2%	38.7%	32.1%
Squamous cell carcinoma	5.2%	10.4%	15.1%	36.8%	32.5%
Basal cell carcinoma	5.7%	13.7%	18.5%	31.3%	30.8%
Malignant melanoma	4.2%	7.5%	13.7%	46.2%	28.3%



Figure 8.1 Attitude about essential sign for assessment in each item (E1 = Wrinkle-Superficial, E2 = Wrinkle-Deep, E3 = Wrinkle-Criscross, E4 = Reduced fat tissue, E5 = Nasolabial folds, E6 = Eye bag, E7 = Ptosis of upper eye lids, E8 = Yellowish Discoloration, E9 = Lax appearance, E10 = Solar elastosis, E11 = White linear (Pseudoscar), E12 = Cutis Rhomboidalis Nuchae, E13 = Freckles, E14 = Lentigines, E15 = Melasma, E16 = Uneven pigment, E17 = Guttate Hypomelanosis, E18 = Venous lakes, E19 = Purpura, E20 = Telangiectasias, E21 = Milia, E22 = Sebaceous

Hyperplasia, E23 = Senile Comedones, E24 = Favre-Racouchot Symdrome, E25 = Actinic Keratosis, E26 = Xerosis (dry skin), E27 = Squamous Cell Carcinoma, E28 = Basal Cell Carcinoma, E29 = Malignant Melanoma)

8.2.2 Exploratory factor analysis (EFA)

We divided EFA into 2 parts, which are for all dermatologists (certified and noncertified dermatologist) and only for certified dermatologist.

For all dermatologists, after EFA, Kaiser-Guttman criterion and scree plot were used for analysis, it was suggested that 3 factors were optimal in our EFA (Figure 8.2). Factor 1 composed of 8 signs (wrinkle – Superficial, Wrinkle – Deep, Reduced fat tissue, etc.). Factor 2 and factor 3 comprised of 6 signs, 4 signs, respectively (Table 8.3). Factor analysis can tell you which variables in your dataset will "go together" in ways that are not always obvious. However, the interpretation of what those sets of variables actually represent is up to the analyst, where reasonable people can disagree.

145 certified dermatologist responded to the survey. Both the Kaiser-Guttman criterion and scree plot suggested that 3 factors were optimal in our EFA. Factor 1 composed of 8 signs of atrophy (wrinkle - superficial, wrinkle - deep, wrinkle - crisscross, reduced fat tissue, nasolabial folds, eye bags, lax appearance, solar elastosis), which reflected dermis and soft tissue lesions (Table 8.4). Factor 2 composed of 7 signs of discoloration (freckles, lentigines, melasma, venous lakes, purpura, telangiectasias, milia). Factor 3 composed of all malignant lesions.


Figure 8.2 Scree plot of eigenvalues after exploratory factor analysis.

We propose a simplified Global Subjective Skin Aging Assessment (GS^2A^2) score comprising 3 factors, which are not only based on empirical evidence from dermatologists in practice, but are representative of the pathophysiologic changes that take place in the skin aging process (Table 8.5). GS^2A^2 score not only includes factors relevant to skin aging from the perspective of dermatologists, but also is easily calculated as calculated as three-factor score. We can interpret the results in two parts: First, The total GS^2A^2 score, that might be used to assess a cosmetic product that claim to have comprehensive anti-aging effect whereas factor-based score could be used to differentiate whether the change in overall clinical outcomes were because of atrophy, discoloration, or malignancy. Another is the inclusion of scores on each of the factors that show symptoms that need to be resolved thoroughly. Moreover, standard terminology is used for each factor, resulting in better inter-rater reliability, which should be proven by further study. Those results would support GS^2A^2 score as a simple and informative tool.

Factor 1	Loadings
Wrinkle - Superficial	0.8468
Wrinkle - Deep	0.8994
Wrinkle - Criscross	0.7181
Reduced fat tissue	0.8448
Nasolabial folds	0.8331
Eye bag	0.8012
Lax appearance	0.8007
Solar elastosis	0.7532
Factor 2	
Freckles	0.8334
Lentigines	0.7827
Melasma	0.7827
Uneven pigment	0.7016
Telangiectasias	0.7720
Milia	0.7296
Factor 3	K 167A.//
Favre-Racouchot Syndrome	0.7361
Xerosis (dry skin)	0.7755
Squamous Cell Carcinoma	0.7667
Basal Cell Carcinoma	0.7389

Table 8.3 EFA essential sign certified and non-certified dermatologist

Factor 1 - Atrophic	Loadings
Wrinkle – Superficial	0.8587
Wrinkle – Deep	0.8999
Wrinkle – Criscross	0.7437
Reduced fat tissue	0.8359
Nasolabial folds	0.7898
Eye bag	0.7696
Lax appearance	0.8027
Solar elastosis	0.7991
Factor 2 - Discoloration	
Freckles	0.8519
Lentigines	0.7946
Melasma	0.7565
Venous lakes	0.7056
Purpura	0.7346
Telangiectasias	0.7749
Milia	0.8056
Factor 3 - Malignancy	
Squamous Cell Carcinoma	0.8555
Basal Cell Carcinoma	0.8620
Malignant Melanoma	0.8120

Table 8.4 EFA essential sign certified dermatologist

Aging signs (ADM)	1	2	3	4	5
Atrophy					
Wrinkles - superficial					
Wrinkles - deep					
Wrinkles - crisscross					
Reduced fat tissue					
Nasolabial folds					
Eye bags	100				
Lax appearance					
Solar elastosis	100				
A- Total (8-40)	201	X (4		
Discoloration	10.55	0.0110	- A	2	
Freckles			2		
Lentigines					
Melasma					
Venous lakes					
Purpura			m		
Telangiectasias			YOY.		
Milia					
D- Total (7-35)	XG		269		
Malignancy		1.181			
Squamous cell carcinoma	241				
Basal cell carcinoma					
Malignant melanoma					
M- Total (3-15)					
ADM-Total (18-90)					

Table 8.5 GS^2A^2 Each of the following signs can be obviously seen

8.3 Perceived knowledge about skin aging signs

8.3.1 Baseline Characteristics

213 respondents, who were asked "I can make a provisional diagnoses the following signs". The average percentages of Likert's scale of each signs were between 66.29 and 90.52. Nasolabial fold was at a highest score and squamous cell carcinoma was are at a lowest score. The answer of respondents who selected strongly agree of malignant lesion are less than 15 percent (Figure 8.3).



Figure 8.3 Average percentage of perceive knowledge in each skin aging sign. The question is I can make a provisional diagnosis the following signs (k1= Wrinkle-Superficial, k2 = Wrinkle-Deep, k3 = Wrinkle-Criscross, k4 = Reduced fat tissue, k5 = Nasolabial folds, k6 = Eye bag, k7 = Ptosis of upper eye lids, k8 = Yellowish Discoloration, k9 = Lax appearance, k10 = Solar elastosis, k11 = White linear (Pseudoscar), k12 = Cutis Rhomboidalis Nuchae, k13 = Freckles, k14 = Lentigines, k15 = Melasma, k16 = Uneven pigment, k17 = Guttate Hypomelanosis, k18 = Venous lakes, k19 = Purpura, k20 = Telangiectasias, k21 = Milia, k22 = Sebaceous Hyperplasia, k23 = Senile Comedones, k24 = Favre-Racouchot Symdrome, k25 = Actinic Keratosis, k26 = Xerosis (dry skin), k27 = Squamous Cell Carcinoma, k28 = Basal Cell Carcinoma, k29 = Malignant Melanoma

8.3.2 Association between perceive knowledge and attiude about essential signs of skin aging

Almost of the average of essential signs and perceive knowledge of skin aging are significantly difference. Only 4 signs are not significantly difference, they consisted of reduced fat tissue, yellowish discoloration, guttate hypomelanosis, actinic keratosis (Table 8.6). The mean difference positive composed of 14 signs including wrinkle-superficial, wrinkle-deep, nasolabial fold, ptosis of upper eye lids, freckles, lentigines, melasma, uneven pigment, venous lakes, purpura, telangiectasias, milia, sebaceous hyperplasia, senile comedones.The mean difference negative composed of 11 signs including wrinkle-criscross, lax appearance, solar elastosis, white linear (pseudoscar), cutis rhomboidalis nuchae, Favre-racouchot symdrome, xerosis (dry skin), squamous cell carcinoma, basal cell carcinoma, malignant melanoma.



Figure 8.4 Association between perceive knowledge and essential signs of skin aging (K = perceive knowledge, E = Attiude of dermatologist about essential signs, 1 = Wrinkle-Superficial, 2 = Wrinkle-Deep, 3 = Wrinkle-Criscross, 4 = Reduced fat tissue, 5 = Nasolabial folds, 6 = Eye bag, 7 = Ptosis of upper eye lids, 8 = Yellowish Discoloration, 9 = Lax appearance, 10 = Solar elastosis, 11 = White linear (Pseudoscar), 12 = Cutis Rhomboidalis Nuchae, 13 = Freckles, 14 = Lentigines, 15 = Melasma, 16 = Uneven pigment, 17 = Guttate Hypomelanosis, 18 = Venous lakes, 19 = Purpura, 20 = Telangiectasias, 21 = Milia, 22 = Sebaceous Hyperplasia, 23 = Senile Comedones, 24

= Favre-Racouchot Symdrome, 25 = Actinic Keratosis, 26 = Xerosis (dry skin), 27 =Squamous Cell Carcinoma, 28 = Basal Cell Carcinoma, 29 = Malignant Melanoma)

Skin aging sign	Average of essential sign	Average of perceive knowledge	Mean Difference ± SD	P-value
Wrinkle-Superficial	4.5 ± 0.9	4.23 ± 0.84	0.26 ± 0.86	< 0.001*
Wrinkle-Deep	4.52 ± 0.88	4.33 ± 0.81	0.19 ± 0.73	< 0.001*
Wrinkle-Criscross	3.84 ± 1.16	4.01 ± 0.95	-0.17 ± 1.03	0.020*
Reduced fat tissue	4.23 ± 0.96	4.26 ± 0.85	-0.04 ± 0.94	0.561
Nasolabial folds	4.53 ± 0.88	4.25 ± 0.89	0.27 ± 0.85	< 0.001*
Eye bag	4.43 ± 0.93	4.23 ± 0.86	0.19 ± 0.93	0.003*
Ptosis of upper eye lids	4.36 ± 0.93	4.17 ± 0.94	0.18 ± 0.98	0.006*
Yellowish Discoloration	4.01 ± 1.02	3.95 ± 0.98	0.05 ± 1.11	0.494
Lax appearance	4.03 ± 1.07	4.21 ± 0.88	-0.18 ± 0.97	0.008*
Solar elastosis	3.88 ± 1.11	4.15 ± 0.92	-0.27 ± 1.02	< 0.001*
White linear (Pseudoscar)	3.73 ± 1.18	3.9 ± 0.98	-0.16 ± 1.02	0.023*
Cutis Rhomboidalis Nuchae	3.74 ± 1.28	3.9 ± 1	-0.17 ± 1.21	0.042*
Freckles	4.44 ± 0.96	3.66 ± 1.16	0.78 ± 1.31	< 0.001*
Lentigines	4.44 ± 0.98	3.89 ± 1.06	0.55 ± 1.17	< 0.001*
Melasma	4.47 ± 0.93	3.92 ± 1	0.55 ± 1.16	<0.001*
Uneven pigment	4.18 ± 1.05	3.89 ± 1	0.29 ± 1.17	<0.001*
Guttate Hypomelanosis	4.17 ± 1.17	4.07 ± 1	0.09 ± 1.11	0.216
Venous lakes	3.97 ± 1.19	3.53 ± 1.06	0.43 ± 1.43	< 0.001*
Purpura	4.31 ± 1.02	3.75 ± 1.07	0.54 ± 1.24	< 0.001*
Telangiectasias	4.47 ± 0.91	3.71 ± 1.08	0.76 ± 1.17	< 0.001*
Milia	4.39 ± 0.97	3.39 ± 1.16	1 ± 1.32	< 0.001*
Sebaceous Hyperplasia	4.45 ± 0.95	3.71 ± 1.07	0.74 ± 1.17	< 0.001*
Senile Comedones	4.31 ± 1.05	4.08 ± 0.97	0.23 ± 1.07	0.002*
Favre-Racouchot Symdrome	3.66 ± 1.36	3.83 ± 1.1	-0.18 ± 1.22	0.033*
Actinic Keratosis	3.99 ± 1.14	4.02 ± 0.96	-0.04 ± 1.15	0.634
Xerosis	4.41 ± 0.95	3.83 ± 1.13	0.58 ± 1.29	< 0.001*
SCC	3.31 ± 1.05	3.81 ± 1.15	-0.5 ± 1.39	<0.001*
BCC	3.45 ± 1.1	3.68 ± 1.21	-0.24 ± 1.46	0.017*
MM	3.32 ± 1.06	3.87 ± 1.04	-0.55 ± 1.23	<0.001*

 Table 8.6 Association between perceive knowledge of dermatologist and essential signs of skin aging

Values presented as mean \pm SD. P-value corresponds to Paired t-test.

8.3.3 Subgroup analysis

8.3.3.1 Comparison perceive knowledge about skin aging signs between certified and non-certified dermatologist

Certified dermatologist gets higher average Likert's score in all signs and are significantly difference. Only 3 signs consists of nasolabial fold, eye bag and yellowish discoloration are non-significant difference at an average of Likert's score (P-value >0.005).



Figure 8.5 Perceive knowledge between certified and non-certified dermatologist (1 = Wrinkle-Superficial, 2 = Wrinkle-Deep, 3 = Wrinkle-Criscross, 4 = Reduced fat tissue, 5 = Nasolabial folds, 6 = Eye bag, 7 = Ptosis of upper eye lids, 8 = Yellowish Discoloration, 9 = Lax appearance, 10 = Solar elastosis, 11 = White linear (Pseudoscar), 12 = Cutis Rhomboidalis Nuchae, 13 = Freckles, 14 = Lentigines, 15 = Melasma, 16 = Uneven pigment, 17 = Guttate Hypomelanosis, 18 = Venous lakes, 19 = Purpura, 20 = Telangiectasias, 21 = Milia, 22 = Sebaceous Hyperplasia, 23 = Senile Comedones, 24 = Favre-Racouchot Symdrome, 25 = Actinic Keratosis, 26 = Xerosis (dry skin), 27 = Squamous Cell Carcinoma, 28 = Basal Cell Carcinoma, 29 = Malignant Melanoma)

8.3.3.2 Comparison perceive knowledge between board certified and non-board certified dermatologist

Boardcertified dermatologist are at a higher average Likert's score in all signs. Almost of the signs are significant difference (P<0.005) except nasolabial fold, freckles, lentigines, melasma and sebaceous gland hyperplasia (Figure 8.6).



Figure 8.6 Perceive knowledge between board certified and non-board certified dermatologist (1 = Wrinkle-Superficial, 2 = Wrinkle-Deep, 3 = Wrinkle-Criscross, 4 = Reduced fat tissue, 5 = Nasolabial folds, 6 = Eye bag, 7 = Ptosis of upper eye lids, 8 = Yellowish Discoloration, 9 = Lax appearance, 10 = Solar elastosis, 11 = White linear (Pseudoscar), 12 = Cutis Rhomboidalis Nuchae, 13 = Freckles, 14 = Lentigines, 15 = Melasma, 16 = Uneven pigment, 17 = Guttate Hypomelanosis, 18 = Venous lakes, 19 = Purpura, 20 = Telangiectasias, 21 = Milia, 22 = Sebaceous Hyperplasia, 23 = Senile Comedones, 24 = Favre-Racouchot Symdrome, 25 = Actinic Keratosis, 26 = Xerosis (dry skin), 27 = Squamous Cell Carcinoma, 28 = Basal Cell Carcinoma, 29 = Malignant Melanoma)

8.4 Responder's practice

8.4.1 Baseline characteristic

More than 60 percent of respondents assess skin aging signs/disease on patients when they found any signs of skin aging (Table 8.7).

	Yes	No
Wrinkle	198 (93%)	15 (7%)
Sagging	188 (88.3%)	25 (11.7%)
Decrease Elasticity of skin	168 (78.9%)	45 (21.1%)
Pigment Heterogeneity	178 (83.6%)	35 (16.4%)
Vascular disorder	129 (60.6%)	84 (39.4%)
Benign tumor and Cyst	156 (73.2%)	57 (26.8%)
Precancerous	158 (74.2%)	55 (25.8%)
Malignant	153 (71.8%)	60 (28.2%)
Xerosis	181 (85%)	32 (15%)

 Table 8.7 Responder's practice

8.4.2 Association between perceive knowledge and skin assessment

The practising of skin aging sign assessment respondent had a higher average perceive knowledge than non practising respondent. Some factors are significance but some are not, nevertheless considerably becomes the advantage. There was significant difference between the perceive knowledge in practising dermatologist ("yes" answer) at a higher level than non practising dermatologist ("no" answer) except wringkle, vascular disorder and xerosis. According to a significant difference, it showed that dermatologist who practise an assessment in sagging, decrease elasticity of skin, pigment heterogeneity, benign tumor and cyst and precancerous had a higher level of perceive knowledge than non practice dermatologist (Table8.8).

Practice	Perceive knowledge		Yes		No	P-value
		Ν	Mean ± SD	N	Mean ± SD	
Wrinkle	Superficial Deep Criscross	198	4.3 ± 0.85	15	4.11 ± 1.07	0.41
Sagging	Reduced fat tissue Nasolabial folds Eye bag Ptosis	188	4.43 ± 0.81	25	4.06 ± 1.13	0.044*
Decrease Elasticity of skin	Yellowish Discoloration Lax appearance Solar elastosis White linear (Pseudoscar) Cutis Rhomboidalis Nuchae	168	3.96 ± 0.94	45	3.58 ± 0.97	0.019*
Pigment Heterogeneity	Freckles Lentigines Melasma Uneven pigment Guttate Hypomelanosis	178	4.42 ± 0.87	35	3.94 ± 1.03	0.004*
Vascular disorder	Venous lakes Purpura Telangiectasias	129	4.34 ± 0.89	84	4.1 ± 1.03	0.066
Benign tumor and Cyst	Milia Sebaceous Hyperplasia Senile Comedones Favre-Racouchot Symdrome	156	4.32 ± 0.85	57	3.89 ± 1.12	0.010*
Precancerous	Actinic Keratosis	158	4.19 ± 0.98	55	3.4 ± 1.36	<0.001*
Malignant	Squamous Cell Carcinoma Basal Cell Carcinoma Malignant Melanoma	153	3.52 ± 0.98	60	2.94 ± 0.98	<0.001*
Xerosis	Xerosis	181	4.44 ± 0.93	32	4.28 ± 1.02	0.393

Table 8.8 Association between perceive knowledge and practices of knowledge source

 for contextual dimension

Values presented as mean \pm SD. P-value corresponds to Independent t-test.



Figure 8.7 Association between perceive knowledge and skin assessment (K1-K3 = Wrinkle; K4-K7 = Sagging; K8-K12 = Decrease Elasticity of skin; K13-K17 = Pigment Heterogeneity; K18-K20 = Vascular disorder; K21-K24 = Benign tumor and Cyst; K25= Precancerous; K26 = Xerosis; K 27-29 = Malignant)

8.4.3 Association between mean attitude of essential signs and skin assessment

Majority of respondents around 60% realized the essential of skin aging signs and practised skin aging signs assessment. The average of practising in skin aging sign assessement were higher than not practising.



Figure 8.8 Association between mean attitude of essential signs and skin assessment (K1-K3 = Wrinkle; K4-K7 = Sagging; K8-K12 = Decrease Elasticity of skin; K13-K17 = Pigment Heterogeneity; K18-K20 = Vascular disorder; K21-K24 = Benign tumor and Cyst; K25= Precancerous; K26 = Xerosis; K 27-29 = Malignant)

8.4.4 Association between GS^2A^2 and skin aging assessment

According to all of the information, it is found that the respondent practises the assessment in the skin aging sign of GS^2A^2 were higher than not practising.



Figure 8.9 Association between GS^2A^2 and practices of knowledge source for contextual dimension (K1-K3 = Wrinkle; K4-K7 = Sagging; K8-K12 = Decrease Elasticity of skin; K13-K17 = Pigment Heterogeneity; K18-K20 = Vascular disorder; K21-K24 = Benign tumor and Cyst; K25= Precancerous; K26 = Xerosis; K 27-29 = Malignant)

8.5 Perceive knowledge of skin aging scales

8.5.1 Baseline characteristics

The questions ask whether "I am familiar with the following scale," to evaluate the familiarity and popularity of currently available, well-developed skin aging assessment scales among Thai dermatologists.

One-fifth (21.6%) of the respondents were familiar with SAS, compared with 11.5% and 11.2% for MERZ and SCINEXA, respectively (Figure 8.10). The average Likert's scale response were 2.46, 2.22, and 2.21, respectively. SAS was significantly well-known among Thai dermatologist than MERZ (p<0.001) and SCINEXA (p<0.001); no difference between MERZ and SCINEXA was observed (p=0.59) (Figure 8.11). The average amount of data from one hundred of SAS, MERZ and SCINEXA scores are 49.2, 45.0 and 44.4 percent, respectively.



Figure 8.10 Responses to the question "I am familiar with the following scale."



Figure 8.11 Comparison average of score for evaluation the familiarity and popularity of the currently-available, well-developed rating scales among Thai dermatologists (1, Strongly Disagree; 2, Disagree; 3, Neither Agree or Disagree; 4, Agree; and 5, Strongly Agree); P-value corresponds to Independent t-test.

Table 8.9	Comparison 4	skin aging scales
-----------	--------------	-------------------

SAS	SCINEXA	MERZ	GS ² A ²
24 signs	23 signs	19 signs	18 signs
White head on cheek	Uneven pigment	Forehead lines at rest	Wrinkles
			Superficial
Black head on cheek	Fine wrinkle	Forehead lines at dynamic	Wrinkles deep
White head on	Lax appearance	Glabellar lines at	Wrinkles
forehead	- STUS	rest	crisscross
Black head on	Reduce fat tissue	Glabellar lines at	Reduced fat tissue
forehead		dynamic	
Millia on cheek	Benign skin tumor	Crow's feet at rest	Nasolabial folds
Millia on forehead	Freckle	Crow's feet at dynamic	Eye bags
Pigment spot on cheek	Lentigine solarlis	Brow positioning	Lax appearance
Pigment spot on forehead	Pigment change	Infraorbital hollow	Solar elastosis
Fine lines on cheek	Change of skin phototype	Upper cheek fullness	Freckles
Coarse wrinkle on cheek	Yellowness	Lower cheek fullness	Lentigines
Lines on lip	Pseudoscar	Nasolabial folds	Melasma
Wrinkle on upper lip	Coarse wrinkle	Marionette lines	Venous lakes
Nasolabial folds	Elastosis	Upper lip fullness	Purpura
Crow's feet	Cutis rhamboidalis nuchae	Lower lip fullness	Telangiectasias
Wrinkle under eyes	Favre racouchot	Lip wrinkles at rest	Millia
Fine lines on forehead	Dryness	Lip wrinkles at dynamic	Squamous cell
			carcinoma
Furrow between eye brow	Comedone	Oral commissures	Basal cell
			carcinoma

SAS	SCINEXA	MERZ	GS ² A ²
Tissue slacking	Telangiectasia	Jawline	Malignant
			melanoma
Bags under eyes	Actinic keratosis		
Elasticity on cheek,	Squamous cell		
forehead	carcinoma		
Inability to redden cheek, forehead	Basal cell carcinoma		
	Malignant		
	melanoma		

8.6 Procedure

8.6.1 Baseline characteristics

Non ablative laser is the most popular procedure, 84.5%. The sequels are Intense Pulse Light (79.3%), chemical peel (75.1%) and neuromodulator (botulinum toxin) (74.2%) respectively. Face lift and blepharoplasty are the least popularity (4.2%) (Figure 8.12).



Figure 8.12 Practice procedure that dermatologist done (PrChem = Chemical peels, PrDerm = Dermabrasion, PrPDT = Photodynamic Therapy, PrLAbla = Laser Ablative, PrLNon = Laser Nonablative, PrIPL = Intense Pulse Light, PrRF = Radiofrequency, PrHIFU = High Intensity Focus Ultrasound, PrNeuro = Neuromodulator (Botulunum toxin), PrAug = Augmentation, PrThread = Thread lift, PrLipo = Liposuction/Lipolysis, PrBxEx = Biopsy : Shaves, Punch, Incision, Excision, PrBxCryo = Biopsy : Cryosurgery, Electrosurgery, PrBxMohs = Biopsy : Mohs micrographic surgery, Prsx = Surgery : Facelift, Blepharoplasty)

8.6.2 Subgroup analysis

A comparison between the practice procedure of certified and noncertified dermatologist were performed. Certified dermatologist did skin biopsy more than noncertified dermatologist, Cryosurgery and electrosurgery are significantly differences (p<0.005). Noncertified dermatologist did skin augmentation more than certified dermatologist. For facelift and blepharoplasty, noncertified dermatologist practiced more than certified dermatologist (Figure 8.13). The working experience of noncertified dermatologists is less than certified dermatologists who did surgery at 4.7 and 5.8 respectively (Table 8.10).



Figure 8.13 Comparison between the practice procedure of certified and non-certified dermatologist

Table 8.10 Surgery procedure and work experience

	E		
	Certified (n=5)	Non Certified (n=3)	P-value
Facelift and Blebpharoplasty	5.8 ± 3.6	4.7 ± 4.6	0.711

Values presented as mean \pm SD. P-value corresponds to Independent t-test.

8.7 Context that influence skin aging assessment

4 items were assessed in different contexts of skin aging assessment. More than 50% of respondents selected agree and strongly agree to perform a complete physical examination and confident to take a physical examination (Figure 8.14). But there is limited time to take a physical examination. In contrast, for the question about the number of patient per day, respondents selected agree and strongly agree less than 45%.

A comparison context that influence skin aging assessment between certified and non-certified dermatologist found that all context are significant difference (P<0.05).

 Table 8.11 Comparison context that influence skin aging assessment between certified

 and non-certified dermatologist

Education background	Non-Certified	Certified	P-value
N	68	145	
PE Complete	3.11 ± 1.1	3.57 ± 0.86	0.011
Limited Time	3.17 ± 1.22	3.61 ± 1.06	0.017
Too many patients	2.83 ± 1.13	3.38 ± 1.01	0.002
Confident PE-based Diagnosis	3.47 ± 1	3.86 ± 0.71	0.015

Values presented as mean \pm SD. P-value corresponds to Independent t-test.



Figure 8.14 Context that influence skin aging assessment

CHAPTER 9 DISCUSSION

Chronologic age and solar damage are the most important intrinsic and extrinsic factors associated with skin aging. In spite of this fact, the mechanisms responsible for the deleterious effects and cutaneous alterations are distinct, and general skin signs are essential for clinical assessment of skin aging.

Dermatologists are the most appropriate persons to perform and make decisions related to skin aging assessment, treatment and prevention (123). For dermatologists, precise definitions of applied concept and description of aging signs and the use of complete assessment are necessary to quickly and correctly achieve the diagnosis, and eventually conclude specific treatments, either by way of prevention or correction for patients.

According to the Dermatologist Society of Thailand, there are a total number of 585 qualified dermatologists in the country (124). Most of the dermatologist population practice in Bangkok instead of upcountry. There are 66 persons working in academic dermatology centers which have been established for residency training (124). Six of these are university departments: Chulalongkorn, Pramongkutklao, Ramathibodi, Chiangmai, Thammasat and Siriraj. Only one is run by the Department of Medical Services of the Ministry of Public Health, Institute of Dermatology.

The attitudes of dermatologists about the clinical assessment of skin aging are unexplored. Also, it is unclear whether their attitudes will affect their perceived knowledge and clinical practices. Although there are many assessment skin aging methods, studying the roles of dermatologist' actual implication into practice is not reported in Thailand and their attitudes toward skin assessment are unclear.

As practice experience can influence assessment (125, 126), a reliable and generalizable skin aging assessment scale should not only be evidence-based, but also take into account the perspective of dermatologists. Hence, this KAP survey study was begun. The data which was derived from questionnaires showed that majority of respondents realized the importance of the essential skin aging signs assessment especially in malignancy lesion. Provisional diagnosis in malignancy lesion could not

be made by those respondents which relevant to the theory that those indicated signs require further investigation either by Dermoscope or biopsy for definite diagnosis.

The mean difference on the essential signs of skin aging is higher than (or positive) the perceive knowledge and P-value (<0.005) which indicates that the respondents do not confident in the result of investigation including 14 signs that are wrinkle-superficial, wrinkle-deep, nasolabial fold, ptosis of upper eye lids, freckles, lentigines, melasma, uneven pigment, venous lakes, purpura, telangiectasias, milia, sebaceous hyperplasia, senile comedones. Based on this study, it is necessary to develop, educate and provide the training to respondents to increase the confident when diagnosis is performed.

A comparison of perceive knowledge between certified dermatologist and noncertified dermatologist is performed, the result of study indicates that majority of certified dermatologist is more knowledgeable person and be able to provide accurate diagnosis than non-certified dermatologist. This similar result is also applied when a comparison between certified board and non-certified board in Master of Science, Diploma, Doctor of philosophy and fellow in dermatology is done. The educational background and experience are influence their decision making and effects to the confident when diagnosis of the patient condition is made.

More than 60 percent of respondents assess skin aging signs/disease on patients when they found any signs of skin aging. Overall, the practising of skin aging sign assessment respondent had a higher average perceive knowledge than non practising respondent. Some factors are significance but some are not, nevertheless considerably becomes the advantage.

With regards to the practice in a clinic by dermatologist, it is found that the practice dermatologist who assesses sagging, decrease elasticity of skin, pigment heterogeneity, benign tumor and cyst and precancerous is more knowledgeable person in skin aging signs than non-practice dermatologist. It is the positive signs indicating that the practice dermatologist is competent and be more understandable in skin aging signs assessment.

Non ablative laser is the most popular procedure, 84.5%. The sequels are Intense Pulse Light, and chemical peel respectively. Face lift and blepharoplasty are the least popularity (4.2%) Face lift and blepharoplasty are the least popularity (4.2%). Surprisingly, face lift and blepharoplasty are performed by non-certified dermatologist rather than certified dermatologist. The working experience in non-certified dermatologist is less than certified dermatologist who had performed the surgery; hence this issue has to be more pre-caution in terms of malpractice.

Although more than 100 skin aging assessment scales have been introduced, none has gained sufficient popularity to become widely used. This is supported by our finding that a minimal number of Thai dermatologists were familiar with even the methodologically robust scales. Many reasons for this finding are possible. First, the terminology might be unclear and the assessment results might be complicated, requiring competent assessors with special training. For example, the term "inability to redden" in SAS could be interpreted in many different ways, making it unreliable. Second, some scales might be too comprehensive for real-life clinical practice. For instance, SCINEXA covers almost all signs of aging, and of the 13 studies utilizing this scale, only 2 completed the full assessment (31, 32).

We propose a simplified Global Subjective Skin Aging Assessment (GS^2A^2) score comprising 3 factors, which are not only based on empirical evidence from dermatologists in practice, but are representative of the pathophysiologic changes that occur in the skin aging process. The term "atrophy" comprises reduction of elastic fibers as well as changes in collagen components and subcutaneous tissues (fat, muscle, bone), leading to skin signs of wrinkles, solar elastosis, reduced fat tissue, nasolabial folds, etc. The term "discoloration" includes melanin, changes in vascular pigmentation, and keratin-filled cysts. All common skin aging malignancies are included in factor 3. Based on these 3 factors, skin aging is multidimensional, and one skin sign is not sufficient to express the skin aging process in general.

A comparison of various scales (Table 8.9) was performed and it was found that GS^2A^2 had number of skin aging signs less than the other kinds of scale except scale that was developed by Allerhand et al. However, GS^2A^2 was more multidimensional character, better identify definite diagnosis and dermatologist agreed that it was the essential signs to diagnose skin aging. Today, there are many techniques and instruments to detect skin aging for research and treatment, including the 3-dimensional camera (19, 25), dermoscope (20), physical sample analysis of color (21), and measurement of elasticity (22, 26, 27). However, these include only some of the signs of skin aging. Some cosmetic products can improve skin elasticity, but changes in other clinical symptoms may be unclear. In addition, pigmentation and malignancy may require a dermatologist to identify signs of aging.

 GS^2A^2 score not only includes factors relevant to skin aging from the perspective of dermatologists, but also is easily calculated as three-factor score. We can interprete the results in two parts: First, The total GS^2A^2 score, that might be used to assess a cosmetic product that claim to have comprehensive anti-aging effect whereas factor-based score could be used to differentiate whether the change in overall clinical outcomes were because of atrophy, discoloration, or malignancy. Another is the inclusion of scores on each of the factors that show symptoms that need to be resolved thoroughly. Moreover, standard terminology is used for each factor, resulting in better inter-rater reliability, which should be proven by further study. Those results would support GS²A² score as a simple and informative tool. The GS²A² compose of essential signs of skin aging by dermatologist, quite complete compared to other scales, easy to use because most doctors know and the classification is easy to use. This score also can be used to measure overall antiaging effects before and after dermatologic treatment, such as a cosmetic product claiming to minimize overall skin aging. For example, the clinical effects of a multicomponent nutritional supplement for photoaged skin could be evaluated using GS^2A^2 score instead of the Glogau classification system, which reflects only antiwrinkle effects and not overall antiaging effects (127). However, as the subjectivity of this score could be affected by many factors, GS^2A^2 score should be used as a before-and-after comparison rather than as an average across individuals.

CHAPTER 10 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1 Conclusions

In this thesis, KAP survey is a tool for evaluate perspective of dermatologist. A comparison of perceive knowledge between certified dermatologist and noncertified dermatologist is performed, the result of study indicates that majority of certified dermatologist is more knowledgeable person and be able to provide accurate diagnosis than non-certified dermatologist. It is the positive signs indicating that the practice dermatologist is competent and be more understandable in skin aging signs assessment. The working experience in non-certified dermatologist is less than certified dermatologist who had performed the surgery; hence this issue has to be more precaution in terms of malpractice.

 GS^2A^2 score is a simple numerical score that can be used to evaluate the antiaging effects of a cosmetic product or dermatologic intervention. These scale can be used in all ethnicity especially in Asian people.

In conclusion, GS^2A^2 score should be used as a before-and-after comparison rather than as an average across individuals.

10.2 Recommendations

10.2.1 Applying to the future

These results would support the GS^2A^2 score as a simple and informative tool. The GS^2A^2 score includes factors relevant to skin aging from the perspective of dermatologists, and it is easily calculated as a 3-factor score. The summary score may be used for assessing cosmetic products that claim to have a global anti-aging effect, whereas a factor-based score could be used to differentiate whether the change in overall clinical outcomes was because of atrophy, discoloration, or malignancy. Moreover, standard terminology is used for each factor, resulting in better inter-rater reliability, which should be proven by further study.

10.2.2 Validity and reliability test

This study presented only the initial phase of scale development. As suggested by COSMIN, GS^2A^2 score should be tested further for validity and reliability.

 GS^2A^2 can be used to measure overall antiaging effects before and after dermatologic treatment, such as using cosmetic products claiming to minimize overall skin aging. However, skin aging comprises of several factors. The scale is subjective and easily influenced. Therefore, GS^2A^2 score should be used as a beforeand-after comparison in individuals. Further study is required in another group of dermatologists for Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) to establish the construct validity and reliability of the scale.

To investigate the reliability of each item, pilot study will be done to evaluate sample size. The hypothesis of study of this scale can be compared with the treatment outcome of skin aging (for example, using retinol or platelet-rich plasma protein) in individuals. Three dermatologists will rate the scale using photographs (before and after treatment). Inter-rater reliability was calculated for each skin aging item.

For example, Figure 10.1 shows the result between before and after treatment by platelet-rich plasma protein (PRP). The comparison of summarized score in individuals can be used to assess global anti-aging effect. For this example, the total of score before treatment was thirty eight, whereas each factor-based score were 22, 13, 3 of atrophy, discoloration and malignancy, respectively (Figure 10.2). The after 1 month treatment by platelet-rich plasma protein achieved the lower total score of thirty three (Figure 10.3). For factor-based score, atrophy in superficial wrinkles and lax appearance has improved in a positive way. Discoloration in melasma and telangiectasia has lessened. No change in malignant group was found.



Figure 10.1 Before and after treatment by platelet-rich plasma protein (PRP)

	Aging signs (ADM)	1	2	3	4	5
	Atrophy Wrinkles - superficial Wrinkles - deep Wrinkles - crisscross Reduced fat tissue Nasolabial folds Eye bags Lax appearance Solar elastosis	11 1	~		111	~
	A- Total (8-40)	22				
	Discoloration Freckles Lentigines Melasma Venous lakes Purpura Telangiectasias Milia	1 11 1		1		~
	D- Total (7-35)	13		1	1	
	Malignancy Squamous cell carcinoma	-				
	Basal cell carcinoma Malignant melanoma					
A CONTRACTOR OF THE OWNER	M-Total (3-15)	3				
and the 1 x 1 y	ADM-Total (18-90)	38				

Figure 10.2 Before treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by GS^2A^2

Aging signs (ADM)	1	2	3	4	5
Atrophy					
Wrinkles - superficial				•	
Wrinkles - deep					
Wrinkles - crisscross	▼			1	
Reduced fat tissue				1	
Nasolabial folds				~	
Eye bags		•			
Lax appearance	1		•		
Solar elastosis	~				
A- Total (8-40)	20	1			
Discoloration		T			
Freckles	1				
Lentigines	~				
Melasma	1		~		
Venous lakes	1				
Purpura	~	1			
Telangiectasias	1	~			
Milia	I				
D- T otal (7-35)	10				
Malignancy	1				
Squamous cell carcinoma	-	1			
	1				
Basal cell carcinoma	1				
Malignant melanoma	-				
M- Total (3-15)	3		1		
ADM-Total (18-90)	33				_

Figure 10.3 After treatment with platelet-rich plasma protein and evaluated by GS^2A^2

Because this score was developed based on inputs from a representative group of Thai dermatologists who have experience with Asian patients, GS^2A^2 score is particularly relevant to Asians.

REFERENCES

1. Imadojemu S, Sarwer DB, Percec I, Sonnad SS, Goldsack JE, Berman M, et al. Influence of surgical and minimally invasive facial cosmetic procedures on psychosocial outcomes: a systematic review. JAMA Dermatol. 2013;149(11):1325-33.

2. Sobanko JF, Imadojemu S, Miller CJ. Epidemiology of cosmetic procedures: an update for dermatologists. Curr Dermatol Rep. 2012;1(1):4-13.

3. Vashi NA, de Castro Maymone MB, Kundu RV. Aging differences in ethnic skin. J Clin Aesthet Dermatol. 2016;9(1):31-8.

4. Vierkötter A, Krutmann J. Environmental influences on skin aging and ethnicspecific manifestations. Dermatoendocrinol. 2012;4(3):227-31.

5. Tschachler E, Morizot F. Ethnic differences in skin aging. In: Gilchrest BA, Krutmann J, editors. Skin aging. Berlin: Springer; 2006. p. 23-31.

6. Farage MA, Miller KW, Elsner P, Maibach HI. Characteristics of the aging skin. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle). 2013;2(1):5-10.

7. Dobos G, Lichterfeld A, Blume-Peytavi U, Kottner J. Evaluation of skin ageing: a systematic review of clinical scales. Br J Dermatol. 2015;172(5):1249-61.

8. Glogau RG. Aesthetic and anatomic analysis of the aging skin. Semin Cutan Med Surg. 1996;15(3):134-8.

9. Fitzpatrick RE, Goldman MP, Satur NM, Tope WD. Pulsed carbon dioxide laser resurfacing of photo-aged facial skin. Arch Dermatol. 1996;132(4):395-402.

10. Sattler G, Carruthers A, Carruthers J, Flynn TC, Geister TL, Gortelmeyer R, et al. Validated assessment scale for neck volume. Dermatol Surg. 2012;38(2 Spec No.):343-50.

11. Fabi S, Bolton J, Goldman MP, Guiha I. The Fabi-Bolton chest wrinkle scale: a pilot validation study. J Cosmet Dermatol. 2012;11(3):229-34.

12. La Padula S, Hersant B, SidAhmed M, Niddam J, Meningaud JP. Objective estimation of patient age through a new composite scale for facial aging assessment: the face - objective assessment scale. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2016;44(7):775-82.

13. Mokkink LB, Terwee CB, Patrick DL, Alonso J, Stratford PW, Knol DL, et al. The COSMIN checklist for assessing the methodological quality of studies on

measurement properties of health status measurement instruments: an international Delphi study. Qual Life Res. 2010;19(4):539-49.

 Rzany B, Carruthers A, Carruthers J, Flynn TC, Geister TL, Gortelmeyer R, et al. Validated composite assessment scales for the global face. Dermatol Surg. 2012;38(2 Spec No.):294-308.

15. Vierkotter A. RU, Kramer U., Sugiri D., Reimann V., Krutmann J. The SCINEXA: A novel, validated score to simultaneously assess and differentiate between intrinsic and extrinsic skin ageing. J Dermatol Sci. 2009;(53):207-11.

16. Guinot C, Malvy DJ, Ambroisine L, Latreille J, Mauger E, Tenenhaus M, et al. Relative contribution of intrinsic vs extrinsic factors to skin aging as determined by a validated skin age score. Arch Dermatol. 2002;138(11):1454-60.

17. Bazin R, Flament F. Skin Aging Atlas. Vol. 2, Asian Type. Paris: Editions Med'Com; c2010. 12 p.

Allerhand M., Ting Ooi E., Starr RJ., Alcorn M., Penke L., Drost E., et al. Skin ageing and oxidative stress in a narrow age cohort of older adults. Eur Geriatr Med. 2011;(2):140-4.

19. Mailey B, Baker JL, Hosseini A, Collins J, Suliman A, Wallace AM, et al. Evaluation of facial volume changes after rejuvenation surgery using a 3-dimensional camera. Aesthet Surg J. 2016;36(4):379-87.

20. Isik B, Gurel MS, Erdemir AT, Kesmezacar O. Development of skin aging scale by using dermoscopy. Skin Res Technol. 2013;19(2):69-74.

21. Lim HK, Suh DH, Lee SJ, Shin MK. Rejuvenation effects of hyaluronic acid injection on nasojugal groove: prospective randomized split face clinical controlled study. J Cosmet Laser Ther. 2014;16(1):32-6.

22. Kaur CD, Saraf S. Topical vesicular formulations of Curcuma longa extract on recuperating the ultraviolet radiation-damaged skin. J Cosmet Dermatol. 2011;10(4):260-5.

23. Farage MA, Miller KW, Elsner P, Maibach HI. Intrinsic and extrinsic factors in skin ageing: a review. Int J Cosmet Sci. 2008;30(2):87-95.

24. Vierkotter A, Krutmann J. Environmental influences on skin aging and ethnicspecific manifestations. Dermatoendocrinol. 2012;4(3):227-31. 25. Saito N, Nishijima T, Fujimura T, Moriwaki S, Takema Y. Development of a new evaluation method for cheek sagging using a Moire 3D analysis system. Skin Res Technol. 2008;14(3):287-92.

26. Mac-Mary S, Sainthillier JM, Jeudy A, Sladen C, Williams C, Bell M, et al. Assessment of cumulative exposure to UVA through the study of asymmetrical facial skin aging. Clin Interv Aging. 2010;5:277-84.

27. Tran D, Townley JP, Barnes TM, Greive KA. An antiaging skin care system containing alpha hydroxy acids and vitamins improves the biomechanical parameters of facial skin. Clin Cosmet Investig Dermatol. 2015;8:9-17.

28. Daniell HW. Smoker's wrinkles. A study in the epidemiology of "crow's feet". Ann Intern Med. 1971;75(6):873-80.

29. Sherry H., D.Baron. E. Evaluation and assessment of photoaging. Photonics Lasers Med. 2013;(4):305-14.

30. Mokkink LB, Terwee CB, Patrick DL, Alonso J, Stratford PW, Knol DL, et al. The COSMIN study reached international consensus on taxonomy, terminology, and definitions of measurement properties for health-related patient-reported outcomes. J Clin Epidemiol. 2010;63(7):737-45.

31. Oyetakin-White P, Suggs A, Koo B, Matsui MS, Yarosh D, Cooper KD, et al. Does poor sleep quality affect skin ageing? Clin Exp Dermatol. 2015;40(1):17-22.

32. Cinotti E, Perrot JL, Labeille B, Biron AC, Vierkotter A, Heusele C, et al. Skin tumours and skin aging in 209 French elderly people: the PROOF study. Eur J Dermatol. 2016.

33. Chang AL, Atzmon G, Bergman A, Brugmann S, Atwood SX, Chang HY, et al. Identification of genes promoting skin youthfulness by genome-wide association study. J Invest Dermatol. 2014;134(3):651-7.

34. Randag AC, Graaff R, Dreise MM, Vierkotter A, Werker PM, Stenekes MW. Body mass index, chronological age and hormonal status are better predictors of biological skin age than arm skin autofluorescence in healthy women who have never smoked. Br J Dermatol. 2015;173(5):1199-204. 35. Ernster VL, Grady D, Miike R, Black D, Selby J, Kerlikowske K. Facial wrinkling in men and women, by smoking status. Am J Public Health. 1995;85(1):7882.

36. Vierkotter A, Huls A, Yamamoto A, Stolz S, Kramer U, Matsui MS, et al. Extrinsic skin ageing in German, Chinese and Japanese women manifests differently in all three groups depending on ethnic background, age and anatomical site. J Dermatol Sci. 2016;83(3):219-25.

37. Kaneko N, Vierkoetter A, Kraemer U, Sugiri D, Matsui M, Yamamoto A, et al. Mitochondrial common deletion mutation and extrinsic skin ageing in German and Japanese women. Exp Dermatol. 2012;21 Suppl 1:26-30.

38. Li M, Vierkotter A, Schikowski T, Huls A, Ding A, Matsui MS, et al. Epidemiological evidence that indoor air pollution from cooking with solid fuels accelerates skin aging in Chinese women. J Dermatol Sci. 2015;79(2):148-54.

39. Perner D, Vierkotter A, Sugiri D, Matsui M, Ranft U, Esser C, et al. Association between sun-exposure, smoking behaviour and plasma antioxidant levels with the different manifestation of skin ageing signs between Japanese and German women--a pilot study. J Dermatol Sci. 2011;62(2):138-40.

40. Vierkotter A, Kramer U, Sugiri D, Morita A, Yamamoto A, Kaneko N, et al. Development of lentigines in German and Japanese women correlates with variants in the SLC45A2 gene. J Invest Dermatol. 2012;132(3 Pt 1):733-6.

41. Vierkotter A, Schikowski T, Ranft U, Sugiri D, Matsui M, Kramer U, et al. Airborne particle exposure and extrinsic skin aging. J Invest Dermatol. 2010;130(12):2719-26.

42. Vierkotter A, Schikowski T, Sugiri D, Matsui MS, Kramer U, Krutmann J. MMP-1 and -3 promoter variants are indicative of a common susceptibility for skin and lung aging: results from a cohort of elderly women (SALIA). J Invest Dermatol. 2015;135(5):1268-74.

43. Chung JH, Lee SH, Youn CS, Park BJ, Kim KH, Park KC, et al. Cutaneous photodamage in Koreans: influence of sex, sun exposure, smoking, and skin color. Arch Dermatol. 2001;137(8):1043-51.

44. Flament F, Bazin R, Qiu H, Ye C, Laquieze S, Rubert V, et al. Solar exposure(s) and facial clinical signs of aging in Chinese women: impacts upon age perception. Clin Cosmet Investig Dermatol. 2015;8:75-84.

45. Trojahn C, Dobos G, Blume-Peytavi U, Kottner J. The skin barrier function: differences between intrinsic and extrinsic aging. G Ital Dermatol Venereol. 2015;150(6):687-92.

46. Sen S, Choudhury S, Gangopadhyay A, Halder C, Biswas P, Jain A. A clinical rating scale for the assessment of facial aging in Indian population. Indian J Dermatol Venereol Leprol. 2016;82(2):151-61.

47. López-Otín C, Blasco MA, Partridge L, Serrano M, Kroemer G. The hallmarks of aging. Cell. 2013;153(6):1194-217.

48. O'Sullivan RJ, Karlseder J. Telomeres: protecting chromosomes against genome instability. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2010;11(3):171-81.

49. Bodnar AG, Ouellette M, Frolkis M, Holt SE, Chiu CP, Morin GB, et al. Extension of life-span by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells. Science. 1998;279(5349):349-52.

50. Cui H, Kong Y, Zhang H. Oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and aging. J Signal Transduct. 2012;2012.

51. Szalai VA, Singer MJ, Thorp HH. Site-specific probing of oxidative reactivity and telomerase function using 7,8-dihydro-8-oxoguanine in telomeric DNA. J Am Chem Soc. 2002;124(8):1625-31.

52. Yin B, Jiang X. Telomere shortening in cultured human dermal fibroblasts is associated with acute photodamage induced by UVA irradiation. Postepy Dermatol Alergol. 2013;30(1):13-8.

53. Birben E, Sahiner UM, Sackesen C, Erzurum S, Kalayci O. Oxidative stress and antioxidant defense. World Allergy Organ J. 2012;5(1):9-19.

54. Stoiber W, Obermayer A, Steinbacher P, Krautgartner W-D. The role of Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) in the formation of Extracellular Traps (ETs) in humans. Biomolecules. 2015;5(2):702-23.

55. Krumova K, Cosa G. Overview of reactive oxygen species. In: Nonell S, FlorsC, editors. Singlet oxygen: applications in biosciences and nanosciences. Cambridge:Royal Society of Chemistry; 2016. p. 1-21

56. Hazane F, Sauvaigo S, Douki T, Favier A, Beani JC. Age-dependent DNA repair and cell cycle distribution of human skin fibroblasts in response to UVA irradiation. J Photochem Photobiol B. 2006;82(3):214-23.

57. Barber SC, Mead RJ, Shaw PJ. Oxidative stress in ALS: a mechanism of neurodegeneration and a therapeutic target. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2006;1762(11-12):1051-67.

58. Hudson L, Bowman A, Rashdan E, Birch-Machin MA. Mitochondrial damage and ageing using skin as a model organ. Maturitas. 2016;93:34-40.

59. Tulah AS, Birch-Machin MA. Stressed out mitochondria: the role of mitochondria in ageing and cancer focussing on strategies and opportunities in human skin. Mitochondrion. 2013;13(5):444-53.

60. Rustin P, von Kleist-Retzow JC, Vajo Z, Rotig A, Munnich A. For debate: defective mitochondria, free radicals, cell death, aging-reality or myth-ochondria? Mech Ageing Dev. 2000;114(3):201-6.

61. Jia Q, Nash JF. Pathology of aging skin. In: Farage MA, Miller KW, Maibach HI, editors. Textbook of Aging Skin. Berlin: Springer; 2010. p. 277-91.

62. Sauvaigo S, Caillat S, Odin F, Nkengne A, Bertin C, Oddos T. Effect of aging on DNA excision/synthesis repair capacities of human skin fibroblasts. J Invest Dermatol. 2010;130(6):1739-41.

63. Bikle DD. Vitamin D regulated keratinocyte differentiation. J Cell Biochem. 2004;92(3):436-44.

64. Anisimov VN, Bartke A. The key role of growth hormone—insulin—IGF-1 signaling in aging and cancer. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2013;87(3):201-23.

65. Sator PG, Schmidt JB, Rabe T, Zouboulis CC. Skin aging and sex hormones in women -- clinical perspectives for intervention by hormone replacement therapy. Exp Dermatol. 2004;13 Suppl 4:36-40.

66. Stevenson S, Thornton J. Effect of estrogens on skin aging and the potential role of SERMs. Clin Interv Aging. 2007;2(3):283-97.

67. Cotofana S, Fratila AA, Schenck TL, Redka-Swoboda W, Zilinsky I, Pavicic T. The anatomy of the aging face: a review. Facial Plast Surg. 2016;32(3):253-60.

68. Yaar M, Gilchrest BA. Aging of skin. In: Wolff K, Goldsmith LA, Katz SI, editors. Fitzpatrick's dermatology in general medicine. New York: Mc-Graw Hill; 2008. p. 1213-26.

69. Jenkins. G. Molecular mechanisms of skin ageing. Mech Ageing Dev. 2002;(123):801-10.

70. Gilchrest BA. Photo aging. J Invest Dermatol. 2013;(133) E2-E6.

71. Lim HW, Hawk JL. Photodermatologic disorders. In: Bolognia J, Jorizzo JL, Schaffer JV, editors. Dermatology. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2012. p. 1467-86.

72. Wolff K, Johnson RA. Disorders presenting in the skin and mucous membranes. In: Wolff K, Johnson RA, editors. Fitzpatrick's Color Atlas & Synopsis of Clinical Dermatology. New York: Mc-Graw Hill; 2009. p. 2-239.

73. Habif TP. Sun-damaged skin. In: Bonnett C, Lowson K, editors. Clinical dermatology: a color guide to diagnosis and therapy. 5th ed. Edinburgh: Mosby Elsevier; 2010. p. 743-6.

74. Callaghan TM, Wilhelm KP. A review of ageing and an examination of clinical methods in the assessment of ageing skin. Part 2: Clinical perspectives and clinical methods in the evaluation of ageing skin. Int J Cosmet Sci. 2008;30(5):323-32.

75. Shoshani D, Markovitz E, Monstrey SJ, Narins DJ. The modified Fitzpatrick Wrinkle Scale: a clinical validated measurement tool for nasolabial wrinkle severity assessment. Dermatol Surg. 2008;34 Suppl 1:S85-91; discussion S.

76. Ezure T, Yagi E, Kunizawa N, Hirao T, Amano S. Comparison of sagging at the cheek and lower eyelid between male and female faces. Skin Res Technol. 2011;17(4):510-5.

Goldberg RA, Lew H. Cosmetic Outcome of Posterior Approach PtosisSurgery (An American Ophthalmological Society Thesis). Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc.2011;109:157-67.

78. Ankad BS, Beergouder SL. Dermoscopic evaluation of idiopathic guttate hypomelanosis: A preliminary observation. Indian Dermatol Online J. 2015;6(3):1647.

79. Sonthalia S, Arora R, Chhabra N, Khopkar U. Favre-Racouchot syndrome. Indian Dermatol Online J. 2014;5(Suppl 2):S128-9.

80. Carruthers J, Flynn TC, Geister TL, Gortelmeyer R, Hardas B, Himmrich S, et al. Validated assessment scales for the mid face. Dermatol Surg. 2012;38(2 Spec No.):320-32.

81. Conkling N, Bishawi M, Phillips BT, Bui DT, Khan SU, Dagum AB. Subjective rating of cosmetic treatment with botulinum toxin type A: do existing measures demonstrate interobserver validity? Ann Plast Surg. 2012;69(4):350-5.

82. Flynn TC, Carruthers A, Carruthers J, Geister TL, Gortelmeyer R, Hardas B, et al. Validated assessment scales for the upper face. Dermatol Surg. 2012;38(2 Spec No.):309-19.

83. Fujimura T, Hotta M. The preliminary study of the relationship between facial movements and wrinkle formation. Skin Res Technol. 2012;(18):219-24.

84. Hazrati A, Izadpanah A, Zadeh T, Gosman A, Chao JJ, Dobke MK. Ageing midface: The impact of surgeon's experience on the consistency in the assessment and proposed management. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2011;64(2):155-9.

85. Helfrich YR, Yu L, Ofori A, Hamilton TA, Lambert J, King A, et al. Effect of smoking on aging of photoprotected skin: evidence gathered using a new photonumeric scale. Arch Dermatol. 2007;143(3):397-402.

86. Honeck P, Weiss C, Sterry W, Rzany B, Gladys study g. Reproducibility of a four-point clinical severity score for glabellar frown lines. Br J Dermatol. 2003;149(2):306-10.

Hund T, Ascher B, Rzany B, Smile Study G. Reproducibility of two four-point clinical severity scores for lateral canthal lines (crow's feet). Dermatol Surg. 2006;32(10):1256-60.

88. Kane MA, Blitzer A, Brandt FS, Glogau RG, Monheit GD, Narins RS, et al. Development and validation of a new clinically-meaningful rating scale for measuring lateral canthal line severity. Aesthet Surg J. 2012;32(3):275-85.

89. Kim EJ, Reeck JB, Maas CS. A validated rating scale for hyperkinetic facial lines. Arch Facial Plast Surg. 2004;6(4):253-6.
90. Lemperle G, Holmes RE, Cohen SR, Lemperle SM. A classification of facial wrinkles. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2001;108(6):1735-50; discussion 51-2.

91. McKenzie NE, Saboda K, Duckett LD, Goldman R, Hu C, Curiel-Lewandrowski CN. Development of a photographic scale for consistency and guidance in dermatologic assessment of forearm sun damage. Arch Dermatol. 2011;147(1):31-6.

92. Narins RS, Carruthers J, Flynn TC, Geister TL, Gortelmeyer R, Hardas B, et al. Validated assessment scales for the lower face. Dermatol Surg. 2012;38(2 Spec No.):333-42.

93. O'Hare PM, Fleischer AB, Jr., D'Agostino RB, Jr., Feldman SR, Hinds MA, Rassette SA, et al. Tobacco smoking contributes little to facial wrinkling. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 1999;12(2):133-9.

94. Suppa M, Elliott F, Mikeljevic JS, Mukasa Y, Chan M, Leake S, et al. The determinants of periorbital skin ageing in participants of a melanoma case-control study in the U.K. Br J Dermatol. 2011;165(5):1011-21.

95. Tsukahara K, Sugata K, Osanai O, Ohuchi A, Miyauchi Y, Takizawa M, et al. Comparison of age-related changes in facial wrinkles and sagging in the skin of Japanese, Chinese and Thai women. J Dermatol Sci. 2007;47(1):19-28.

96. Tsukahara K, Takema Y, Fujimura T, Moriwaki S, Kitahara T, Imokawa G. Determination of age-related changes in the morphological structure (sagging) of the human cheek using a photonumeric scale and three-dimensional surface parameters. Int J Cosmet Sci. 2000;22(4):247-58.

97. Valet F, Ezzedine K, Malvy D, Mary JY, Guinot C. Assessing the reliability of four severity scales depicting skin ageing features. Br J Dermatol. 2009;161(1):153-8.

98. Valet F, Guinot C, Ezzedine K, Mary JY. Quality assessment of ordinal scale reproducibility: log-linear models provided useful information on scale structure. J Clin Epidemiol. 2008;61(10):983-90.

99. Lorenc ZP, Bank D, Kane M, Lin X, Smith S. Validation of a four-point photographic scale for the assessment of midface volume loss and/or contour deficiency. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2012;130(6):1330-6.

100. Uitto J, Bernstein EF. Molecular mechanisms of cutaneous aging: connective tissue alterations in the dermis. J Investig Dermatol Symp Proc. 1998;3(1):41-4.

101. Park K. Park's textbook of preventive and social medicine. 21st ed. Jabalpur: M/S Banarsidas Bhanot; 2011. p. 626.

102. Simmel G. The sociology of Georg Simmel. New York: The Free Press; 1950.

103. Raina SK. Accounting for attitude in a KAP Study: A comment on knowledge, attitude and practice of stroke in India versus other developed and developing countries. Ann Indian Acad Neurol. 2014;17(2):241-2.

104. Kaliyaperumal K. Guideline for conducting a knowledge, attitude and practice
(KAP) study. Community ophthalmology [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2016 Mar 7].
Available from http://laico.org/v2020resource/files/guideline_kap_Jan_mar04.pdf

105. Zakary L, Tormala A, Richard E. Contextual contrast and perceived knowledge: exploring the implications for persuasion. J Exp Soc Psychol. 2007;17-30.

106. Costermans J, Lories G, Ansay C. Confidence level and feeling of knowing in question answering: The weight of inferential processes. J Exp Psychol Learn Mem Cogn. 1992;(18):142-50.

107. Sivakumar H, Hanoch Y, Barnes AJ, Federman AD. Cognition, Health Literacy, and Actual and Perceived Medicare Knowledge Among Inner-City Medicare Beneficiaries. J Health Commun. 2016:1-9.

108. Krosnick JA, Judd CM, Wittenbrink B. The measurement of attitudes. In Albarracin D, Johnson BT, Zanna MP, editors. The handbook of attitudes. Mahwah: Erlbaum; 2005. p. 21-76.

109. Fabrigar LR, MacDonald TK, Wegener DT. The structure of attitudes. In Albarracin D, Johnson BT, Zanna MP, editors. The handbook of attitudes. Mahwah: Erlbaum; 2005. p. 79-124.

110. Launiala A. "How much can a KAP survey tell us about people's knowledge, attitudes and practices? Some observations from medical anthropology research on malaria in pregnancy in Malawi". Anthropology matters [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2010 Dec 14]. Available from

https://www.anthropologymatters.com/index.php/anth_matters/article/view/31/53

111. Ratcliffe JW. Analyst biases in KAP surveys: a cross-cultural comparison.Stud Fam Plann. 1976;7(11):322-30.

112. Ministry of Public Health, Ministry of Education. Skin cancer inThailand. In: Khuhaprema T, Srivatanakul P, editorss. Cancer in Thailand. Vol. V, Bangkok: RumThai Press; c2010. p. 43-6.

113. Eklouh-Molinier C, Gaydou V, Froigneux E, Barlier P, Couturaud V, Manfait M, et al. In vivo confocal Raman microspectroscopy of the human skin: highlighting of spectral markers associated to aging via a research of correlation between Raman and biometric mechanical measurements. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2015;407(27):8363-72.

114. Tempark T, Chatproedprai S, Wananukul S. Attitudes, knowledge, and behaviors of secondary school adolescents regarding protection from sun exposure: a survey in Bangkok, Thailand. Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed. 2012;28(4):200-6.

115. Relethfold JH. Hemispheric difference in human skin color. Am J phys Anthropol. 1997(104):449-57.

116. Ditre CM, Griffin TD, Murphy GF, Sueki H, Telegan B, Johnson WC, et al. Effects of alpha-hydroxy acids on photoaged skin: a pilot clinical, histologic, and ultrastructural study. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1996;34(2 Pt 1):187-95.

117. Moncrieff M, Cotton S, Claridge E, Hall P. Spectrophotometric intracutaneous analysis: a new technique for imaging pigmented skin lesions. Br J Dermatol. 2002;146(3):448-57.

118. Ganceviciene R, Liakou AI, Theodoridis A, Makrantonaki E, Zouboulis CC. Skin anti-aging strategies. Dermatoendocrinol. 2012;4(3):308-19.

119. Likert R. A technique for the measurement of attitudes. Arch Psychol. 1932;(140):1-55.

120. Kaiser HF. The application of electronic computers to factor analysis. Educ Psychol Meas. 1960;(20):141-51.

121. Cattell RB. The screen test for the number of factors. Multivariate Behav Res.1966;(1):245-76.

DeVellis RF. Scale Development: Theory and Applications. 2nd ed. Thousand
 Oaks: Sage; 2003.

123. Blanchet F, Kanfer A, Cramer E, Benyahia A, Georges R, Mery JP, et al. Relative contribution of intrinsic lung dysfunction and hypoventilation to hypoxemia during hemodialysis. Kidney Int. 1984;26(4):430-5.

124. Wohlrab J, Hilpert K, Wohlrab A. [Characteristics of aging skin]. Hautarzt.2014;65(10):911-20; quiz 21-2.

125. Taylor S, Westerhof W, Im S, Lim J. Noninvasive techniques for the evaluation of skin color. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2006;54(5 Suppl 2):S282-90.

126. Scarff CE, Corderoy RM, Bearman M. In-training assessments: 'The difficulty is trying to balance reality and really tell the truth'. Australas J Dermatol. 2016.

127. Birnbaum JE, McDaniel DH, Hickman J, Dispensa L, Le Moigne A, Buchner L. A multicenter, placebo-controlled, double-blind clinical trial assessing the effects of a multicomponent nutritional supplement for treating photoaged skin in healthy women. J Cosmet Dermatol. 2016.



APPENDICES

APPENDIX A GENERAL INFORMATION

- 1. Age (years) _____
- 2. Gender

O Male

O Female

3. Province ____

4. Education back ground

□ Board Certifications

□ Doctor of Philosophy in Dermatology

Diploma/Master of science in Dermatology

General Practitioner

- 5. How many years of work experience in this field
- 6. Work setting
 - □ Medical School
 - □ Public Hospital
 - □ Private Hospital
 - □ Private Clinic
- 7. How many international conference have you attended per years?

APPENDIX B

PERCEIVED KNOWLEDGE FORM

Part 1

1.1 I can make a provisional diagnosis the following signs.

ฉันสามารถวินิจฉัยอาการแสดงเหล่านี้ได้

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
Wrinkle-Superficia	100		1000		
Wrinkle-Deep	5.00		77-10		
Wrinkle-Criscross	24				
Reduced fat tissue				2	
Nasolabial folds	1		1/5		
Eye bag			0-01	577	
Ptosis of upper eye lids					7
Yellowish Discoloration				//	
Lax appearance					
Solar elastosis					
White linear (Pseudoscar)					
Cutis Rhomboidalis Nuchae					
Freckles					
Lentigines					
Melasma				<u> </u>	

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
Uneven pigment					
Guttate					
Hypomelanosis					
Venous lakes					
Purpura					
Telangiectasias					
Milia					
Sebaceous					
Hyperplasia					
Senile Comedones	Sara	1000	1754		
Favre-Racouchot			1		
Symdrome					
Actinic Keratosis					
Xerosis (dry skin)					

1.2 I can make a provisional diagnosis the following diseases.

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
Squamous Cell Carcinoma					
Basal Cell Carcinoma					
Malignant Melanoma			7.		

ฉันสามารถวินิจฉัย โรค เหล่านี้ได้

Part 2

I am familiar with the following scale.

ฉันคุ้นเคยกับ Scale เหล่านี้

	Strongly disagreed	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
SCINEXA Score					
Skin Aging Score					
MERZ Rating Scale					

APPENDIX C

CONTEXT THAT INFLUENCE SKIN AGING ASSESSMENT

	Strongly	Disagree		Agree	Strongly
	disagree	Disagree	•••	Agree	agree
ฉันตรวจร่างกายคนใข้ครบถ้วนเสมอ					
(I always perform a complete					
physical examination in my					
patient.)					
ฉันมีเวลาที่จำกัดในการตรวจต่อคนไข้ หนึ่งคน					
(I have limited time to					
perform physical exam per			2		
patient.)			S		
จำนวนคนใข้ในคลินิคของฉันต่อวันมี			4.		
ปริมาณมาก		25	14	-//	
(The numbers of patient per			657		
day at my clinic are too	144		1		
much.)					
ฉันมีความมั่นใจในการตรวจและ					
วินิจฉัยคนไข้					
(I have confidence in					
performing physical					
examination and diagnosis on					
my patient.)					

APPENDIX D

ATITIUDE FORM

Part 1

I think that each of the following sign and disease are essential for skin aging diagnosis.

ฉันคิดว่าแต่ละอาการแสดงและโรคเหล่านี้มีความจำเป็นในการวินิจฉัย Skin aging

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
Wrinkle-Superficial	20.5	90.97	736	Ś	
Wrinkle-Deep	1		\geq	ŝ	
Wrinkle-Criscross	-58				
Reduced fat tissue			1		
Nasolabial folds		1			
Eye bag				3//	
Ptosis of upper eye lids					
Yellowish Discoloration					
Lax appearance					
Solar elastosis					
White linear (Pseudoscar)					

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
Cutis Rhomboidalis Nuchae					
Freckles					
Lentigines		1915			
Melasma		107			
Uneven pigment					
Guttate Hypomelanosis			39		
Venous lakes				21.42	
Purpura			1200	1.0	
Telangiectasias			20	5/	
Milia		7.1.1		9//	
Sebaceous Hyperplasia					
Senile Comedones					
Favre-Racouchot Symdrome					
Actinic Keratosis					
Squamous Cell Carcinoma					

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
Basal Cell Carcinoma					
Malignant Melanoma					
Xerosis (dry skin)	6510				



APPENDIX E

PRACTICE FORM

Part 1 Assessment

In my clinics, I assess the following signs/disease

ในคลินิกผิวหนัง (ทั้งในโรงพยาบาลและคลินิกทั่วไป) ฉันได้ทำการประเมิน sign และ disease เหล่านี้กับคนไข้เมื่อ พบอาการแสดงอย่างน้อยหนึ่งอย่างของ Skin aging

	YES	NO
Wrinkle		2
Sagging	122	2
Decrease Elasticity of skin	22	
Pigment Heterogeneity		<u> </u>
Vascular disorder		
(Venous lake, Telangiectasias)		
Benign Tumor, Cyst, Pseudocyst		
(Milia,Sebaceous hyperplasia, Senile		
comedones, Favre-Rocouchot Syndrome)		
Precancerous (Actinic Keratosis)		
Malignant (Squamous Cell Carcinoma,		
Basal Cell Carcinoma, Malignant		
Melanoma, Xerosis)		
Xerosis		

Part 2 Procedure

The following procedure are performed in my clinic

้ฉันได้ทำหัตถการเหล่านี้ในคลินิกผิวหนังที่ฉันทำงานอยู่ (ตอบได้มากกว่า 1 ข้อ)

- \Box Chemical peels
- \Box Dermabrasion
- □ Photodynamic Therapy
- □ Laser Ablative
- \Box Laser Nonablative
- □ Intense Pulse Light
- □ Radiofrequency
- □ High Intensity Focus Ultrasound
- □ Neuromodulator (Botulimun toxin)
- □ Augmentation (Filler,Fat)
- □ Thread lift
- □ Liposuction/Lipolysis
- □ Biopsy: Shaves, Punch, incision, excision
- □ Biopsy: Cryosurgery, Electrosurgery
- □ Biopsy: Mohs micrographic surgery, Sentinel node biopsy
- □ Surgery: Facelift, Blepharoplasty

APPENDIX F

COSMIN CHECKLIST EVALUATION

Skin Aging Score (SAS)

Guinot et al, 2002 (16)

Step1: Structural validity (Box E.)

Step2: No IRT models

Box E. Structural va	alidity			•
1 Does the scale consist of effect indicators, i.e. is it based on a reflective model?	excellent	good	fair	poor
Design		1000/0		
requirements				
2 Was the percentage of missing items given?	Percentage of missing items described	Percentage of missing items NOT described		
3 Was there a description of how missing items were handled?	Described how missing items were handled	Not described but it can be deduced how missing items were handled	Not clear how missing items were handled	
4 Was the sample size included in the analysis adequate?	7^* #items and ≥ 100	5* #items and ≥100 OR 5-7* #items but <100	5* #items but <100	<5* #items
5 Were there any important flaws in the design or methods of the study?	No other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study		Other minor methodological flaws in the design or execution of the Study (e.g. rotation method not described)	Other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study (e.g. inappropriate rotation method)
Statistical methods 6 for CTT: Was exploratory or confirmatory factor analysis performed?	Exploratory or confirmatory factor analysis performed and type of factor analysis appropriate in view of existing information	Exploratory factor analysis performed while confirmatory would have been more appropriate		No exploratory or confirmatory factor analysis performed
7 for IRT: Were IRT tests for determining the (uni-) dimensionality of the items performed?	IRT test for determining (uni)dimensionality performed			IRT test for determining (uni) dimensionality NOT performed

Step1: Criterion validity (Box H.)

Step2: No IRT models

Design	excellent	good	fair	poor
requirements 1 Was the percentage of missing items given?	Percentage of missing items described	Percentage of missing items NOT described		
2 Was there a description of how missing items were handled?	Described how missing items were handled	Not described but it can be deduced how missing items were handled	Not clear how missing items were handled	
3 Was the sample size included in the analysis adequate?	Adequate sample size (≥100)	Good sample size (50-99)	Moderate sample size (30-49)	Small sample size (<30)
4 Can the criterion used or employed be considered as a reasonable 'gold standard'?	Criterion used can be considered an adequate 'gold standard' (evidence provided	No evidence provided, but assumable that the criterion used can be considered an adequate 'gold standard'	Unclear whether the criterion used can be considered an adequate 'gold standard'	Criterion used can NOT be considered an adequate 'gold standard'
5 Were there any important flaws in the design or methods of the study?	No other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study		Other minor methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study	Other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study
Statistical methods 6 for continuous scores: Were correlations, or the area under the receiver operating curve calculated?	Correlations or AUC calculated			Correlations or AUC NOT calculated
7 for dichotomous scores: Were sensitivity and specificity determined?	Sensitivity and specificity calculated			Sensitivity and specificity NOT calculated

Box Generalizability	
1 Median or mean age	43.5
(with standard deviation or range)?	
2 Distribution of sex?	Only female
3 Important disease characteristics (e.g. severity, status,	No disease
duration) and description of treatment?	(Healthy skin)
4 Setting(s) in which the study was conducted? e.g.	Not report
general population, primary care or	
hospital/rehabilitation care	
5 Countries in which the study was conducted?	France
6 Language in which the HR-PRO instrument was	English
evaluated?	
7 Was the method used to select patients adequately	Consecutive
described? e.g. convenience, consecutive, or random	
8 Was the percentage of missing responses	0
(response rate) acceptable?	

SCINEXA

Vierkotter et al, 2009 (15)

Step1: Hypotheses testing (Box F.)

Step2: No IRT models

Step3:

Design	excellent	good	fair	Poor
requirements	Percentage of	Percentage of		
1 Was the	missing items	missing items NOT		
percentage of	described	described		
missing items				
given?				
2 Was there a	Described how	Not described but	Not clear how	
description of how	missing items were	it can be deduced	missing items were	
missing items were	handled	how missing items were handled	handled	
handled?		were handled		
3 Was the sample	Adequate sample		Moderate sample	Small sample size
size included in the	size (≥100 per	Good sample size	size (30-49 per	(<30 per analysis)
analysis adequate?	analysis)	(50-99 per analysis)	analysis)	
			Print and Print	
4 Were hypotheses	Multiple	Minimal number of	Hypotheses vague	Unclear what was
regarding	hypotheses	hypotheses	or not formulated	expected
correlations or	formulated a priori	formulate a priori	but possible to	
mean differences			deduce what was	
formulated a priori (i.e. before data	A []] []		expected	
collection)?				
5 Was the expected	Expected direction	Expected direction		
direction of	of the correlations	of the correlations	J A. //	
correlations or	or differences	or differences	1000	
mean differences	stated	NOT stated	10 m //	
included in the	Stated	NOT Stated	A N // /	
hypotheses?				
6 Was the expected	Expected	Expected		
absolute or relative	magnitude of the	magnitude of the		
	correlations or	correlations or		
<i>magnitude</i> of correlations or		differences NOT		
	differences stated	stated		
mean differences				
included in the				
hypotheses?			D. I. I.I.	
7 for convergent	Adequate	Adequate	Poor description	NO description of
validity: Was an	description of the	description of	of the constructs	the constructs
adequate	constructs	most of the	measured by the	measured by the
description	measured by the	constructs	comparator	comparator
provided of the	comparator	measured by the	instrument(s)	instrument(s)
comparator	instrument(s)	comparator		
instrument(s)?		instrument(s)		
8 for convergent	Adequate	Adequate	Some information	No information on
validity: Were the	measurement	measurement	on measurement	the
measurement			properties (or a	measurement

110

properties of the comparator instrument(s) adequately described?	properties of the comparator instrument(s) in a population similar to the study population	properties of the comparator instrument(s) but not sure if these apply to the study population	reference to a study on measurement properties) of the comparator instrument(s) in any study population	properties of the comparator instrument(s)
9 Were there any important flaws in the design or methods of the study?	No other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study		Other minor methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study (e.g. only data presented on a comparison with an instrument that measures another construct)	Other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study
10 Were design and statistical methods adequate for the hypotheses to be tested?	Statistical methods applied appropriate	Assumable that statistical methods were appropriate, e.g. Pearson correlations applied, but distribution of scores or mean (SD) not presented	Statistical methods applied NOT optimal	Statistical methods applied NOT appropriate

Step1: Criterion validity (Box H.)

Step2: No IRT models

Box H. Criterion va	lidity	Γ	1	1
Design	excellent	good	fair	poor
requirements 1 Was the percentage of missing items given?	Percentage of missing items described	Percentage of missing items NOT described		
2 Was there a description of how missing items were handled?	Described how missing items were handled	Not described but it can be deduced how missing items were handled	Not clear how missing items were handled	
3 Was the sample size included in the analysis adequate?	Adequate sample size (≥100)	Good sample size (50-99)	Moderate sample size (30-49)	Small sample size (<30)
4 Can the criterion used or employed be considered as a reasonable 'gold standard'?	Criterion used can be considered an adequate 'gold standard' (evidence provided	No evidence provided, but assumable that the criterion used can be considered an adequate 'gold standard'	Unclear whether the criterion used can be considered an adequate 'gold standard'	Criterion used can NOT be considered an adequate 'gold standard'
5 Were there any important flaws in the design or methods of the study?	No other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study		Other minor methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study	Other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study
Statistical methods 6 for continuous scores: Were correlations, or the area under the receiver operating curve calculated?	Correlations or AUC calculated			Correlations or AUC NOT calculated
7 for dichotomous scores: Were sensitivity and specificity determined?	Sensitivity and specificity calculated			Sensitivity and specificity NOT calculated

Poy Conorolizability		
Box Generalizability		1
1 Median or mean age	Group1	Group2
(with standard deviation or range)?	41.5 <u>+</u> 15.9	49.5 <u>±</u> 16.5
2 Distribution of sex?	M:F	M:F
	38:20	9:7
3 Important disease characteristics (e.g. severity,	No di	sease
status, duration) and description of treatment?		
4 Setting(s) in which the study was conducted? e.g.	Not r	eport
general population, primary care or		
hospital/rehabilitation care		
5 Countries in which the study was conducted?	Gern	nany
6 Language in which the HR-PRO instrument was	Eng	lish
evaluated?		
7 Was the method used to select patients adequately	2 selected	d groups
described? e.g. convenience, consecutive, or	(non-sunbe	d user and
random	sunbec	l user)
8 Was the percentage of missing responses	C)
(response rate) acceptable?		

Step 4: Determining the Generalizability of the results

N/A

Bazin and Flament, 2010 (17)

Step1: Reliability (Box B.)

Step2: No IRT models

Box B. Reliability: r rater reliability)	elative measures (incl	uding test-retest relia	bility, inter-rater relia	ability and intra-
Design	excellent	good	fair	poor
requirements	Percentage of			
1 Was the percentage of missing items given?	missing items described	Percentage of missing items NOT described		
2 Was there a description of how missing items were handled?	Described how missing items were handled	Not described but it can be deduced how missing items were handled	Not clear how missing items were handled	
3 Was the sample size included in the analysis adequate?	Adequate sample size (≥100)	Good sample size (50-99)	Moderate sample size (30-49)	Small sample size (<30)
4 Were at least two measurements available?	At least two measurements			Only one measurement
5 Were the administrations independent?	Independent measurements	Assumable that the measurements were independent	Doubtful whether the measurements were independent	measurements NOT independent
6 Was the time interval stated?	Time interval stated		Time interval NOT stated	
7 Were patients stable in the interim period on the construct to be measured?	Patients were stable (evidence provided)	Assumable that patients were stable	Unclear if patients Were stable	Patients were NOT stable
8 Was the time interval appropriate?	Time interval appropriate		Doubtful whether interval time NOT appropriate	Time interval was appropriate
9 Were the test conditions similar for both measurements? e.g. type of administration, environment, instructions	Test conditions were similar (evidence provided)	Assumable that test conditions were similar	Unclear if test conditions were similar	Test conditions were NOT similar

10 Were there any important flaws in the design or methods of the study?	No other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study		Other minor methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study	Other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study
Statistical methods 11 for continuous scores: Was an intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) calculated?	ICC calculated and model or formula of the ICC is described	ICC calculated but model or formula of the ICC not described or not optimal. Pearson or Spearman correlation coefficient calculated with evidence provided that no systematic change has occurred	Pearson or Spearman correlation coefficient calculated WITHOUT evidence provided that no systematic change has occurred or WITH evidence that systematic change has occurred	No ICC or Pearson or Spearman correlations calculated
12 for dichotomous/nomin al/ordinal scores: Was kappa calculated?	Kappa calculated			Only percentage agreement calculated
13 for ordinal scores: Was a weighted kappa calculated?	Weighted Kappa calculated		Unweighted Kappa calculated	Only percentage agreement calculated
14 for ordinal scores: Was the weighting scheme described? e.g. linear, quadratic	Weighting scheme described	Weighting scheme NOT described	33/	

Step1: Structural validity (Box E.)

Step2: No IRT models

1 Does the scale	excellent	good	fair	poor
consist of effect indicators, i.e. is it based on a reflective model?				
Design requirements				
2 Was the percentage of missing items given?	Percentage of missing items described	Percentage of missing items NOT described		
3 Was there a description of how missing items were handled?	Described how missing items were handled	Not described but it can be deduced how missing items were handled	Not clear how missing items were handled	
4 Was the sample size included in the analysis adequate?	7* #items and ≥100	5* #items and ≥100 OR 5-7* #items but <100	5* #items but <100	<5* #items
5 Were there any important flaws in the design or methods of the study?	No other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study		Other minor methodological flaws in the design or execution of the Study (e.g. rotation method not described)	Other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study (e.g. inappropriate rotation method)
Statistical methods 6 for CTT: Was exploratory or confirmatory factor analysis performed?	Exploratory or confirmatory factor analysis performed and type of factor analysis appropriate in view of existing information	Exploratory factor analysis performed while confirmatory would have been more appropriate		No exploratory or confirmatory factor analysis performed
7 for IRT: Were IRT tests for determining the (uni-) dimensionality of the items performed?	IRT test for determining (uni) dimensionality performed			IRT test for determining (uni) dimensionality NOT performed

Step 4: Determining the Generalizability of the result	lts
--	-----

Box Generalizability	
1 Median or mean age	Not present
(with standard deviation or range)?	_
2 Distribution of sex?	Only female
3 Important disease characteristics (e.g. severity,	No disease
status, duration) and description of treatment?	
4 Setting(s) in which the study was conducted? e.g.	Not report
general population, primary care or	
hospital/rehabilitation care.	
5 countries in which the study was conducted?	China
	(Guangzhou)
6 Language in which the HR-PRO instrument was	English
evaluated?	
7 Was the method used to select patients adequately	Consecutive
described? e.g. convenience, consecutive, or random	
8 Was the percentage of missing responses	-
(response rate) acceptable?	

N/A

Allerhand et al, 2011 (18)

Step1: Reliability (Box B.)

Step2: No IRT models

Box B. Reliability: r rater reliability)	elative measures (incl	uding test-retest relia	bility, inter-rater relia	ability and intra-
Design	excellent	good	fair	poor
requirements	Percentage of missing items			
1 Was the percentage of missing items given?	described	Percentage of missing items NOT described		
2 Was there a description of how missing items were handled?	Described how missing items were handled	Not described but it can be deduced how missing items were handled	Not clear how missing items were handled	
3 Was the sample size included in the analysis adequate?	Adequate sample size (≥100)	Good sample size (50-99)	Moderate sample size (30-49)	Small sample size (<30)
4 Were at least two measurements available?	At least two measurements			Only one measurement
5 Were the administrations independent?	Independent measurements	Assumable that the measurements were independent		
6 Was the time interval stated?	Time interval stated	082	Time interval NOT stated	
7 Were patients stable in the interim period on the construct to be measured?	Patients were stable (evidence provided)	Assumable that patients were stable	Unclear if patients	Patients were were stable NOT stable
8 Was the time interval appropriate?	Time interval appropriate		Doubtful whether interval time NOT appropriate	Time interval was appropriate
9 Were the test conditions similar for both measurements? e.g. type of administration, environment, instructions	Test conditions Assumable that were similar test conditions (evidence were similar provided)	Unclear if test conditions were similar	Test conditions were NOT similar	

10 Were there any important flaws in the design or methods of the study?	No other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study		Other minor methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study	Other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study
Statistical methods 11 for continuous scores: Was an intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) calculated?	ICC calculated and model or formula of the ICC is described	ICC calculated but model or formula of the ICC not described or not optimal. Pearson or Spearman correlation coefficient calculated with evidence provided that no systematic change has occurred	Pearson or Spearman correlation coefficient calculated WITHOUT evidence provided that no systematic change has occurred or WITH evidence that systematic change has occurred	No ICC or Pearson or Spearman correlations calculated
12 for dichotomous/nomin al/ordinal scores: Was kappa calculated?	Kappa calculated			Only percentage agreement calculated
13 for ordinal scores: Was a weighted kappa calculated?	Weighted Kappa calculated		Unweighted Kappa calculated	Only percentage agreement calculated
14 for ordinal scores: Was the weighting scheme described? e.g. linear, quadratic	Weighting scheme described	Weighting scheme NOT described		

Step1: Structural validity (Box E.)

Step2: No IRT models

Box E. Structural v	alidity			
1 Does the scale consist of effect	excellent	good	fair	poor
indicators, i.e. is it based on a reflective model?				
Design requirements				
2 Was the percentage of missing items given?	Percentage of missing items described	Percentage of missing items NOT described		
3 Was there a description of how missing items were handled?	Described how missing items were handled	Not described but it can be deduced how missing items were handled	Not clear how missing items were handled	
4 Was the sample size included in the analysis adequate?	7* #items and ≥100	5* #items and ≥100 OR 5-7* #items but <100	5* #items but <100	<5* #items
5 Were there any important flaws in the design or methods of the study?	No other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study		Other minor methodological flaws in the design or execution of the Study (e.g. rotation method not described)	Other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study (e.g. inappropriate rotation method)
Statistical methods 6 for CTT: Was exploratory or confirmatory factor analysis performed?	Exploratory or confirmatory factor analysis performed and type of factor analysis appropriate in view of existing information	Exploratory factor analysis performed while confirmatory would have been more appropriate		No exploratory or confirmatory factor analysis performed
7 for IRT: Were IRT tests for determining the (uni-) dimensionality of the items performed?	IRT test for determining (uni)dimensionality performed			IRT test for determining (uni)dimensionalit y NOT performed

Step 4: Determining the Generalizability of the result	lts
--	-----

Box Generalizability	
1 Median or mean age	83.24
(with standard deviation or range)?	
2 Distribution of sex?	M:F
	238:331
3 Important disease characteristics (e.g. severity,	No disease
status, duration) and description of treatment?	
4 Setting(s) in which the study was conducted? e.g.	Not report
general population, primary care or	
hospital/rehabilitation care	
5 Countries in which the study was conducted?	UK
6 Language in which the HR-PRO instrument was	English
evaluated?	
7 Was the method used to select patients adequately	Age selected
described? e.g. convenience, consecutive, or random	
8 Was the percentage of missing responses	0
(response rate) acceptable?	

MERZ Rating Scales

Rzany et al, 2012 (14)

Step1: Reliability (Box B.)

Step2: No IRT models

Box B. Reliability: r rater reliability)	elative measures (incl	uding test-retest relia	bility, inter-rater relia	ability and intra-
Design	excellent	good	fair	poor
Design requirements 1 Was the percentage of missing items given?	Percentage of missing items described	Percentage of missing items NOT described		
2 Was there a description of how missing items were handled?	Described how missing items were handled	Not described but it can be deduced how missing items were handled	Not clear how missing items were handled	
3 Was the sample size included in the analysis adequate?	Adequate sample size (≥100)	Good sample size (50-99)	Moderate sample size (30-49)	Small sample size (<30)
4 Were at least two measurements available?	At least two measurements			Only one measurement
5 Were the administrations independent?	Independent measurements	Assumable that the measurements were independent	Doubtful whether the measurements were independent	measurements NOT independent
6 Was the time interval stated?	Time interval stated		Time interval NOT stated	
7 Were patients stable in the interim period on the construct to be measured?	Patients were stable (evidence provided)	Assumable that patients were stable	Unclear if patients Were stable	Patients were NOT stable
8 Was the time interval appropriate?	Time interval appropriate		Doubtful whether interval time NOT appropriate	Time interval was appropriate
9 Were the test conditions similar for both measurements? e.g. type of administration, environment, instructions	Test conditions were similar (evidence provided)	Assumable that test conditions were similar	Unclear if test conditions were similar	Test conditions were NOT similar

10 Were there any important flaws in the design or methods of the study?	No other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study		Other minor methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study	Other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study
Statistical methods 11 for continuous scores: Was an intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) calculated?	ICC calculated and model or formula of the ICC is described	ICC calculated but model or formula of the ICC not described or not optimal. Pearson or Spearman correlation coefficient calculated with evidence provided that no systematic change has occurred	Pearson or Spearman correlation coefficient calculated WITHOUT evidence provided that no systematic change has occurred or WITH evidence that systematic change has occurred	No ICC or Pearson or Spearman correlations calculated
12 for dichotomous/nomin al/ordinal scores: Was kappa calculated?	Kappa calculated			Only percentage agreement calculated
13 for ordinal scores: Was a weighted kappa calculated?	Weighted Kappa calculated		Unweighted Kappa calculated	Only percentage agreement calculated
14 for ordinal scores: Was the weighting scheme described? e.g. linear, quadratic	Weighting scheme described	Weighting scheme NOT described		

Step1: Hypothesis testing (Box F.)

Step2: No IRT models

Box F. Hypotheses	testing			
Design	excellent	good	fair	Poor
requirements	Percentage of	Percentage of		
1 Was the	missing items	missing items NOT		
percentage of	described	described		
missing items	deserroed	utstilletu		
given?				
2 Was there a	Described how	Not described but it	Not clear how	
description of how	missing items were	can be deduced	missing items were	
missing items were	handled	how missing items	handled	
handled?	/	were handled		
3 Was the sample	Adequate sample	Good sample size	Moderate comple	Small sample size
size included in the	size (≥100 per	(50-99 per analysis)	Moderate sample size (30-49 per	(<30 per analysis)
analysis adequate?	analysis)	(* * * * F * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	analysis)	
analysis adequate?	anarysis)		anary sis)	
4 Were hypotheses	Multiple	Minimal number of	Hypotheses vague	Unclear what was
regarding	hypotheses	hypotheses	or not formulated	expected
correlations or	formulated a priori	formulate a priori	but possible to	1
mean differences	- Aller		deduce what was	
formulated a priori			expected	
(i.e. before data	III		non m	
collection)? 5 Was the expected	Expected direction	Expected direction		
<i>direction</i> of	of the correlations	of the correlations	SV / /	
correlations or	or differences	or differences	10.11	
mean differences	stated	NOT stated	1651//	
included in the	stated	NOT stated		
hypotheses?	Section 2		2.5.11	
hypotheses:				
6 Was the expected	Expected	Expected		
absolute or relative	magnitude of the	magnitude of the		
magnitude of	correlations or	correlations or		
correlations or	differences stated	differences NOT		
mean differences	anterences stated	stated		
included in the				
hypotheses?				
7 for convergent	Adequate	Adequate	Poor description	NO description of
validity: Was an	description of the	description of	of the constructs	the constructs
adequate	constructs	most of the	measured by the	measured by the
description	measured by the	constructs	comparator	comparator
provided of the	comparator	measured by the	instrument(s)	instrument(s)
comparator	instrument(s)	comparator		
instrument(s)?		instrument(s)		
8 for convergent	Adequate	Adequate	Some information	No information on
validity: Were the	measurement	measurement	on measurement	the
measurement			properties (or a	measurement

properties of the comparator instrument(s) adequately described?	properties of the comparator instrument(s) in a population similar to the study population	properties of the comparator instrument(s) but not sure if these apply to the study population	reference to a study on measurement properties) of the comparator instrument(s) in any study population	properties of the comparator instrument(s)
9 Were there any important flaws in the design or methods of the study?	No other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study		Other minor methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study (e.g. only data presented on a comparison with an instrument that measures another construct)	Other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study
10 Were design and statistical methods adequate for the hypotheses to be tested?	Statistical methods applied appropriate	Assumable that statistical methods were appropriate, e.g. Pearson correlations applied, but distribution of scores or mean (SD) not presented	Statistical methods applied NOT optimal	Statistical methods applied NOT appropriate

Step1: Criterion validity (Box H.)

Step2: No IRT models

Box H. Criterion va	lidity			
Design requirements	excellent	good	fair	poor
1 Was the percentage of missing items given?	Percentage of missing items described	Percentage of missing items NOT described		
2 Was there a description of how missing items were handled?	Described how missing items were handled	Not described but it can be deduced how missing items were handled	Not clear how missing items were handled	
3 Was the sample size included in the analysis adequate?	Adequate sample size (≥100)	Good sample size (50-99)	Moderate sample size (30-49)	Small sample size (<30)
4 Can the criterion used or employed be considered as a reasonable 'gold standard'?	Criterion used can be considered an adequate 'gold standard' (evidence provided	No evidence provided, but assumable that the criterion used can be considered an adequate 'gold standard'	Unclear whether the criterion used can be considered an adequate 'gold standard'	Criterion used can NOT be considered an adequate 'gold standard'
5 Were there any important flaws in the design or methods of the study?	No other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study		Other minor methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study	Other important methodological flaws in the design or execution of the study
Statistical methods 6 for continuous scores: Were correlations, or the area under the receiver operating curve calculated?	Correlations or AUC calculated			Correlations or AUC NOT calculated
7 for dichotomous scores: Were sensitivity and specificity determined?	Sensitivity and specificity calculated			Sensitivity and specificity NOT calculated

Step 4:	Determi	ning the	General	lizability	of the	results
	Determin	ming the	Genera	induoinity	or the	rebuild

Box Generalizability	
1 Median or mean age	51.7±10.3
(with standard deviation or range)?	
2 Distribution of sex?	Equal
3 Important disease characteristics (e.g. severity,	No disease
status, duration) and description of treatment?	
4 Setting(s) in which the study was conducted? e.g.	Not report
general population, primary care or	
hospital/rehabilitation care	
5 Countries in which the study was conducted?	Germany
6 Language in which the HR-PRO instrument was evaluated?	English
7 Was the method used to select patients adequately	The chosen was within
described? e.g. convenience, consecutive, or	The framework of scale
random	
8 Was the percentage of missing responses	7 Missing rate
(response rate) acceptable?	(Upper face unit,
	Question of effort of
	aesthetic treatment,
	Estimation of subject
	age)

BIOGRAPHY

Name	Punnapath Buranasirin, MD
Date of Birth	11 March 1988
Educational Attainment	Academic Year 2016: Master of Science
	(Dermatology), International Program,
	Chulabhorn International College of Medicine,
	Thammasat University

Work Experience

2011 - 2013	Internship at Rajvithi Hospital, Bangkok
2013 - 2014	Internship at Bhuddasothorn Hospital, Chachoengsao
2014 – Present	Physician at Phayathai Nawamin Hospital, Bangkok

Publication

None